
 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend committee meetings. However, occasionally, committees 
may have to consider some business in private. Copies of agendas, minutes and reports are available 
on request in Braille, in large print, on audio tape, on computer disk or in other languages. 

 

Healthier Communities Select Committee 
Agenda 

 
Tuesday, 13 June 2017 
7.30 pm,  
Civic Suite 
Catford 
SE6 4RU 
 
For more information contact:  John Bardens (02083149976) 
 

Part 1 
 
Item  Pages 

 
1.   Minutes of the meeting held on 25 April 2017 

 
1 - 4 

2.   Declarations of interest 
 

5 - 8 

3.   Responses from Mayor and Cabinet 
 

9 - 18 

4.   SLaM quality account 
 

19 - 74 

5.   Neighbourhood care networks update 
 

75 - 84 

6.   Social prescribing in-depth review scope note 

To follow 

 

7.   Select Committee work programme 
 

85 - 100 

8.   Referrals to Mayor and Cabinet 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

Healthier Communities Select Committee 
Members 

 
 
Members of the committee, listed below, are summoned to attend the meeting to be held 
on Tuesday, 13 June 2017.   
 
Barry Quirk, Chief Executive 
Thursday, 1 June 2017 
 
  

Councillor John Muldoon (Chair)  

Councillor Susan Wise (Vice-Chair)  

Councillor Paul Bell  

Councillor Peter Bernards  

Councillor Colin Elliott  

Councillor Sue Hordijenko  

Councillor Stella Jeffrey  

Councillor Olurotimi Ogunbadewa  

Councillor Jacq Paschoud  

Councillor Joan Reid  

Councillor Alan Hall (ex-Officio)  

Councillor Gareth Siddorn (ex-Officio)  

  

   
 



MINUTES OF THE HEALTHIER COMMUNITIES 

SELECT COMMITTEE 

Wednesday 25 April 2017, 7pm 

Present: Councillors John Muldoon (Chair), Paul Bell, Peter Bernards, Colin Elliot, Sue 

Hordijenko, Stella Jeffrey, Olurotimi Ogunbadewa, and Jacq Paschoud.  

Apologies: Councillor Susan Wise (Vice Chair), Councillor Joan Reid, and Nigel 

Bowness (Healthwatch) 

Also Present: Aileen Buckton (Executive Director of Community Services), Ashley 

O’Shaughnessy (Deputy Director of Primary Care, Lewisham CCG), Ian Ross 

(Associate Director of Primary Care, Lewisham CCG), Colin Stears (Central Lewisham 

Care Partnership), Dr Prad Velayuthan (ICO Health Group), Dr Simon Parton (South 

Lewisham Group Practice), Rylla Baker (New Cross Health Centre), and John 

Bardens (Scrutiny Manager). 

1. Confirmation of Chair and Vice Chair 

John Bardens (Scrutiny Manager) opened the meeting and asked Members to 

confirm the appointment of the Chair and Vice-Chair. 

Resolved: that Councillor Muldoon be confirmed as the Chair and Councillor Wise be 

confirmed as the Vice-Chair of the Select Committee. 

2. Minutes of the meeting held on 1 March 2017 

Resolved: the minutes of the last meeting were agreed as a true record. 

3. Declarations of interest 

The following non-prejudicial interests were declared: 

 Councillor John Muldoon is a governor of the South London and Maudsley NHS 

Foundation Trust. 

 Councillor Paul Bell is a member of King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust. 

 Councillor Jacq Paschoud has a family member in receipt of a package of adult 

social care. 

 Councillor Susan Wise is a governor of the King's College Hospital NHS 

Foundation Trust. 

 Councillor Colin Elliot is a Council appointee to the Lewisham Disability Coalition. 

4. Responses from Mayor and Cabinet 

There were no responses at this meeting 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



5. CCG update on primary care changes 

Ashley O’Shaughnessy (Deputy Director of Primary Care, Lewisham CCG) and 

colleagues introduced the report. The following key points were noted: 

5.1 This item is intended to provide an overview of a number of GP mergers and other 

specific developments in Lewisham. It follows on from the item on the CCG’s 

primary care strategy for general practice, brought to the committee in January 

2017.  The CCG said that the GP mergers and developments explained in this 

report are in line with the priorities of primary care strategy. They will still, however, 

be subject to formal business case approval. 

5.2 Colin Stears, representing the Central Lewisham Care Partnership, provided 

an update on the proposed inclusion of Belmont Hill surgery into the Central 

Lewisham Care Partnership, as presented to the committee in January 2017.  

5.3 The inclusion of Belmont Hill surgery builds on the existing merger between five 

practices (Brockley Road Medical Centre, Hilly Fields Medical Centre, Morden Hill 

Surgery, Honour Oak Group Practice and St John’s Medical Centre), which formed 

the Central Lewisham Care Partnership. The catchment areas of Belmont Hill 

surgery and the Central Lewisham Care Partnership currently overlap.  

5.4 As with the original merger of five practices, this development will allow further 

economies of scale to be achieved in back-office functions, staff cover and 

overheads. This will benefit both patients and providers. Each practice would 

continue to work under their existing Personal Medical Services contracts for now. 

At a later stage the Partnership would look to move to one contract.  

5.5 The new super-partnership would serve around 57,000 patients. 8,500 patients 

are currently registered at Belmont Hill. NHS England (London Region) have 

shown a keen interest in the model being pursued by the Central Lewisham care 

Partnership. 

5.6 Dr Prad Velayuthan, representing the ICO Health Group, explained proposals 

for the consolidation of ICO Health Group primary care services in Grove Park, 

and the intention to develop a new purpose-built Health Centre, providing access 

to primary care services on a full-time basis.  

5.7 Existing GP premises in Boundfield Road, Chinbrook Road, and Marvels Lane 

would be closed. The Downham Health and Leisure site would remain. 

5.8 The ICO Health Group has recently started further public consultation to support 

the planning process for the new site, which originally began several years ago. 

The practice and architects are taking on board comments received about the 

design and external appearance. The ICO Health Group is taking out a private 

mortgage to support the development as well as seeking support from section 106 

money.  

Page 2



5.9 The ICO Health Group appreciates that travel distances will increase for some 

patients. They are currently looking into the possibility of re-directing bus routes. 

Housebound patients would also continue to get home visits. There needs to be 

more detailed consultation on the Boundfield Road practice, where travel 

distances will increase the most. 

5.10 The committee suggested that that the CCG should liaise with the Public 

Transport Committee about the possible redirection of bus routes to better serve 

new GP locations. 

5.11 Rylla Baker, representing the New Cross Health Centre, outlined proposals 

for the relocation of the New Cross Health Centre to the Waldron Health Centre. 

The relocation would support the optimum use of the Waldron, which is currently 

under-occupied. The CCG proposes that other organisations will use the site 

vacated by the New Cross Health Centre once the move is complete. The 

Waldron is around an 8 minute walk away from the existing location. Wider 

consultation will be carried out before a business case is taken to the CCG for 

formal approval. 

5.12 Dr Simon Parton, representing South Lewisham Group Practice, explained 

the potential merger between Winlaton Surgery (with a list size of approximately 

2,000 patients) and South Lewisham Group Practice. Once merged, the South 

Lewisham Group Practice would cover around 17,000 patients, which would help 

to secure the sustainability of two practices. It would provide Winlaton patients 

with access to new, purpose-built facilities, including a nursing suite and more 

consultation rooms, which have been funded through section 106 money.  

5.13 Winlaton Surgery currently serves a large Sri Lankan Tamil community and 

engagement with patients about the merger will be key. The son of Dr 

Sivagnanasundaram (the main GP at Winlaton Surgery) will also be transferring 

to the South Lewisham Group Practice to provide improved continuity of care for 

patients. 

Resolved: the Committee noted the report 

6. Select Committee work programme 

John Bardens (Scrutiny Manager) introduced the report. The following was noted: 

6.1 Members suggested that the committee should include an item on the work 

programme to monitor the impact on the Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust of 

the Greenwich CCG’s decision to award the musculoskeletal services contract 

to private company Circle Health rather than the Trust. 

6.2 Members suggested a possible review of the use of social prescribing in health 

and social care, with a possible focus on the provision of social activities for 

young adults with learning difficulties.  

Page 3



6.3 Members suggested including an item to look at the results of the CQC inspection 

of the Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust. The Executive Director for 

Community Services reminded the committee that the report would probably be 

ready to come to committee around July 

6.4 Members suggested including an item on the impact of air pollution. Officers 

informed the committee that this issue is already being considered by the 

Sustainable Development Select Committee, but that the new air quality plan 

could be shared as an information-only item in June/July. 

6.5 Following recent articles in the national press about GPs failing patients by 

misdiagnosing cancer, members suggested looking into whether this has been 

an issue in Lewisham. Members suggested inviting the Lewisham CCG, Local 

Medical Committee and GPs. 

6.6 Members agreed to change the committee start time from 7 to 7.30pm, unless 

there is a particularly busy agenda, in which case the start time will be 7pm. 

Resolved: the Committee noted the work programme for 2017/18. 

7. Referrals 

There were none.  

The meeting ended at 20.15pm 

Chair:  

 ---------------------------------------------------- 

Date: 

 ---------------------------------------------------- 

Page 4



Healthier Communities Select Committee 

Title Declaration of interests 

Contributor Chief Executive Item 2 

Class Part 1 (open) 13 June 2017 

 
Declaration of interests 
 
Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on the 
agenda. 
 
1. Personal interests 
 

There are three types of personal interest referred to in the Council’s Member 
Code of Conduct: 
 
(1) Disclosable pecuniary interests 
(2) Other registerable interests 
(3) Non-registerable interests 

 
2. Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined by regulation as:- 
 

(a) Employment, trade, profession or vocation of a relevant person* for profit or 
gain 

 
(b) Sponsorship –payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than 

by the Council) within the 12 months prior to giving notice for inclusion in the 
register in respect of expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a 
member or towards your election expenses (including payment or financial 
benefit  from a Trade Union). 

 
(c) Undischarged contracts between a relevant person* (or a firm in which they 

are a partner or a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the 
securities of which they have a beneficial interest) and the Council for goods, 
services or works. 

 
(d) Beneficial interests in land in the borough. 
 
(e) Licence to occupy land in the borough for one month or more. 
 
(f) Corporate tenancies – any tenancy, where to the member’s knowledge, the 

Council is landlord and the tenant is a firm in which the relevant person* is a 
partner, a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of 
which they have a beneficial interest.   

 
(g)  Beneficial interest in securities of a body where: 
 

(a) that body to the member’s knowledge has a place of business or land 
in the borough;  

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



(b) and either 
 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 1/100 of 
the total issued share capital of that body; or 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant 
person* has a beneficial interest exceeds 1/100 of the total issued 
share capital of that class. 

 
*A relevant person is the member, their spouse or civil partner, or a person with 
whom they live as spouse or civil partner.  

 
3.  Other registerable interests 

 
The Lewisham Member Code of Conduct requires members also to register the 
following interests:- 

 
(a) Membership or position of control or management in a body to which you 

were appointed or nominated by the Council 
(b) Any body exercising functions of a public nature or directed to charitable 

purposes, or whose principal purposes include the influence of public 
opinion or policy, including any political party 

(c) Any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an 
estimated value of at least £25 

 
4. Non registerable interests 

 
Occasions may arise when a matter under consideration would or would be likely 
to affect the wellbeing of a member, their family, friend or close associate more 
than it would affect the wellbeing of those in the local area generally, but which is 
not required to be registered in the Register of Members’ Interests (for example a 
matter concerning the closure of a school at which a Member’s child attends).  

  
5.  Declaration and Impact of interest on members’ participation 

 
 (a)  Where a member has any registerable interest in a matter and they are 

present at a meeting at which that matter is to be discussed, they must 
declare the nature of the interest at the earliest opportunity and in any 
event before the matter is considered. The declaration will be recorded in 
the minutes of the meeting. If the matter is a disclosable pecuniary interest 
the member must take not part in consideration of the matter and withdraw 
from the room before it is considered. They must not seek improperly to 
influence the decision in any way. Failure to declare such an interest 
which has not already been entered in the Register of Members’ 
Interests, or participation where such an interest exists, is liable to 
prosecution and on conviction carries a fine of up to £5000  
 

 (b)  Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a 
disclosable pecuniary interest they must still declare the nature of the 
interest to the meeting at the earliest opportunity and in any event before 
the matter is considered, but they may stay in the room, participate in 

Page 6



consideration of the matter and vote on it unless paragraph (c) below 
applies. 

 
(c) Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a 

disclosable pecuniary interest, the member must consider whether a 
reasonable member of the public in possession of the facts would think 
that their interest is so significant that it would be likely to impair the 
member’s judgement of the public interest. If so, the member must 
withdraw and take no part in consideration of the matter nor seek to 
influence the outcome improperly. 

 
 (d)  If a non-registerable interest arises which affects the wellbeing of a 

member, their, family, friend or close associate more than it would affect 
those in the local area generally, then the provisions relating to the 
declarations of interest and withdrawal apply as if it were a registerable 
interest.   

 
(e) Decisions relating to declarations of interests are for the member’s 

personal judgement, though in cases of doubt they may wish to seek the 
advice of the Monitoring Officer. 

 
6. Sensitive information  

 
There are special provisions relating to sensitive interests. These are interests the 
disclosure of which would be likely to expose the member to risk of violence or 
intimidation where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that such interest need not 
be registered. Members with such an interest are referred to the Code and 
advised to seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance. 

 
7. Exempt categories 
 

There are exemptions to these provisions allowing members to participate in 
decisions notwithstanding interests that would otherwise prevent them doing so. 
These include:- 

 
(a) Housing – holding a tenancy or lease with the Council unless the matter 

relates to your particular tenancy or lease; (subject to arrears exception) 
(b) School meals, school transport and travelling expenses; if you are a parent 

or guardian of a child in full time education, or a school governor unless 
the matter relates particularly to the school your child attends or of which 
you are a governor;  

(c) Statutory sick pay; if you are in receipt 
(d) Allowances, payment or indemnity for members  
(e) Ceremonial honours for members 
(f) Setting Council Tax or precept (subject to arrears exception) 

 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Healthier Communities Select Committee 

Title 
Response To Referral From Healthier Communities Select Committee – 
Integration of Health and Social Care in Lewisham 

Contributor Scrutiny Manager Item 3 

Class Part 1 (open) 13 June 2017 

 
1. Purpose 
 

The response from the Health and Wellbeing Board to the Healthier Communities 
Select Committee referral, made at its meeting on 12 January 2017, on the 
integration of health and social care in Lewisham is attached.  

 
3. Recommendations 
 

The Committee is asked to note the response. 
 
For further information, please contact John Bardens, Scrutiny Manager, on 
02083149976. 

 
 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

Report Title 
 

Response To Referral From Healthier Communities Select 
Committee – Integration of Health and Social Care in Lewisham 

Key Decision 
 

No  Item No. 3b 
 

Contributors 
 

Executive Director for Community Services 

Class Open Date:  27 April 2017  
 

 
 
1. Purpose: 

 
1.1 This report sets out the proposed response to the referral made by the 

Healthier Communities Select Committee following the Committee’s 
consideration of evidence provided to it as part of an evidence gathering 
session for the Committee’s review of the integration of health and social 
care in Lewisham.   

 
 

2.  Recommendations: 
 

The Board is asked to:  

2.1 Approve the officer response to the referral by the Healthier 
Communities Select Committee, and 

 
2.2 Agree that this report be forwarded to the Select Committee. 
 
 

3. Background: 

3.1 At its meeting on 12 January 2017, the Healthier Communities Select 
Committee received a report from the Save Our NHS group of the 
Lewisham Pensioners’ Forum as part of the committee’s review of health 
and adult social care integration.  

 
3.2 The committee also took oral evidence from a representative of the 

group, and after discussion and questioning, resolved to refer the 
questions listed in the group’s written evidence to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board.  

 
4. Referral and Response 
 
4.1 Referral 

The committee is seeking reassurance that officers are aware of the 
answers to the questions posed by the Lewisham Pensioners Forum, 
and have considered this pertinent information throughout the ongoing 
work to integrate health and adult social care in Lewisham. The full list 

Page 11



of questions from the Pensioners Forum is attached to this report as 
appendix 1.  

 
 Officer Response 
4.2 Officers can confirm that the answers to the questions asked by the 

Pensioners Forum are known and all pertinent information is considered 
throughout the ongoing integration work. Detail regarding each specific 
question is attached as appendix 2 for further information. 

 
5.  Financial Implications: 
 
5.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this response.  
 
6.        Legal Implications: 
 
6.1 The Constitution states that ‘the Council has appointed the Healthier 

Communities Select Committee to carry out, among other things, the 
scrutiny of health bodies under the Local Authority (Public Health and 
Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 and other 
relevant legislation in place from time to time’. The Constitution provides 
for the Healthier Communities Select Committee to review and scrutinise 
the decisions and actions of the Health and Wellbeing Board and to 
make reports and recommendations to the Executive/Council, including 
the Health and Wellbeing Board. It is the duty of the Executive body to 
respond within 2 months of receipt of the report/recommendations.  

 
7.  Equalities Implications: 
 
7.1 There are no direct equalities implications arising from this response. 

 
8.  Environmental Implications: 
 
8.1 There are no environmental implications arising from this response. 
 
 
 
Background documents 
 
 
If you would like further information on this report please contact 
stewart.snellgrove@lewisham.gov.uk on 020 8314 9308. 

Page 12

mailto:stewart.snellgrove@lewisham.gov.uk


Residential Care Homes 
 
 
1) How many residential care homes are there in the borough? 
 
Sixteen (16) homes for older adults are registered with Care Quality Commission (CQC) in 
Lewisham. There are 8 specific residential only homes, 5 homes that are dual registered and 
3 that are nursing only. 
 
 
2) How many beds are there in average and in total? 
 
There are a total of 554 beds, an average of 34.6. 
 
 
3) Are there any distinctions in the type of care given? 
 
The homes can support Residential Elderly Frail, Residential Elderly Mentally Infirm (EMI), 
Nursing Elderly Frail and nursing EMI. 
 
 
4) How many beds in each home (or on average and in total) does the Council have 

under contract? 
 
The Council has no long-term beds under block contract. The Council block contracts one 
residential bed and one nursing bed for respite. As at end December 2016, Lewisham had 
340 people placed on spot contracts. 
 
 
5) How many care homes have opened in the last five years? 
 
One residential care home has opened in the last five years with 48 beds. 
 
 
6) How many care homes have closed over the same period? 
 
Two care homes have closed in the past five years. There was a total of 100 beds possible, 
but 70 in use at the time of closure. 
 
The Council has in that time supported the development of a 78 bed Extra Care service in 
2015 and a further 60 bed service is due to open in September 2017. 
 
 
7) Have any care homes withdrawn from or refused to consider contracts with the 

Council? And if so how many and what reasons were given? 
 
No care homes have withdrawn or refused to consider contracts with the Council. 
 
 
8) How does the Council receive and monitor feedback from service users (and/or 

their families)? 
 
The Council, as part of its quality assurance of care homes talks directly to residents and 
families. They also review correspondence from residents and families that has been sent 
directly to the care homes. 
 
 

Page 13



9) Additional information 
 
There are also 25 homes registered as residential with CQC for people with mental health 
support needs. Occasionally older adults with specific high support needs related to their 
mental health conditions may be placed there. There are four homes that might be used in 
these circumstances, totalling 27 possible beds.  

 
Care in the home 
 
 
1) What has the budget been for social care each year since 2010? 

 

Adult Social Care Net Budget      

£ (M) 

09/10 10/11 11/12 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 

70,021 
                

70,403  75,175 76,241 81,812 78,958 71,050 70,413 

 
 

2) How many individual care packages and how many total hours have been 
provided in the community each year? 

 
Due to technical issues we are unable to provide information on previous years, but we are 
able to confirm that: 
 
On average we support 6200 people with adult social care in any one year.  At any point in 
the year there are on average 3300 people getting care. 
 
We average 28,000 hours of care per week, this includes care provided by agencies and 
Direct Payments, this equates to approximately 1.4 million hours of care per year. 

 
 

3) How many care agencies providing care in the person’s home are there in  
the Borough? 

 
There are a total of 46 agencies registered with the Care Quality Commission with premises 
in Lewisham.  

 
 

4) How many of these have started up in the last five years?  
 

In the last five years 26 Home Care agencies has registered with CQC. 
 
 

5) How many agencies have closed in the same period?  
 

The Council does not hold this information. 
 
 

6) Have any withdrawn from Council contracts? And if so how many and for what 
reasons?  

 
No.  

 

Page 14



7) Have any refused to consider Council contracts? And if so how many and for  what 
reasons?  
 
None have refused after being awarded following competitive tender process. 

 
 

8) Are there distinctions in the range of work the care agencies provide? And if so 
what are they?   
 

There are no distinctions - all four lead providers are contracted with Lewisham Adult Social 

Care and Health to provide home care provisions for people who meet the National Eligibility 

Criteria for care and support in their homes. This includes: 

 Personal care (for example help with washing, using the toilet and getting out of bed, 
ensuring food and drink consumption), to maintain wellbeing, working with healthcare 
professionals such as dieticians, occupational therapists, continence specialists etc., 
as required. 

 Practical care (for example assistance with shopping, light meal preparation, bill 
paying, housework, domiciliary tasks). 

 Assistance with medication.  

 Proactively raising issues as they arise and liaising with local health and social care 
staff such as GPs, pharmacists and district nurses and care managers, noting and 
flagging any health concerns promptly with the appropriate person to ensure these are 
acted on. 

 Working closely with health staff as part of a Multidisciplinary Team (MDT). 

 Monitoring and implementing a joint health and local authority Care Plan as may be 
agreed. 

 Emergency support when family carers are suddenly unavailable.  

 Assistance to be as independent as possible at home which might include the use of 
technologies such as Telecare and Telehealth. 

 Social tasks such as helping to reduce isolation, motivating, liaising with other involved 
people including family carers and local organisations. 

 Tasks that contribute to achieving the outcomes that have been identified in the service 
users’ and their Carers’ support plan. 

 
The Service Provider will also provide skilled help for people who have complex support needs, 
for example people with advanced dementia or people with severe or moderate learning 
disabilities and severe and enduring mental health conditions.  
 
The Service Provider will also provide skilled help to those who may be reluctant to accept 
services and will work in a positive way to engage Service Users in their service provision.  
 
 
9) How does the Council receive and monitor feedback from service users (and/or 
their families)? 
 
A Contracts and Quality Assurance Officer and a lead providers is assigned to one of four 
neighborhoods.  The Contracts and Quality Assurance Officer (CQAO) conducts quarterly Key 
Performance Indicator (KPI) monitoring visits to the Agency. The CQAO/Council receives 
feedback from service user and/or their families through the following avenues: 
 

 Face to face - Service user interview questionnaire completed in the person’s home  

 Telephone - Service user interview questionnaire 

 Service user postal questionnaire  

 Quality Alerts – concerns raised to visiting professionals by service user/families are 
forwarded to the CQAO to investigate 

Page 15



 Feedback from service review - Social Worker/Support Planner or Neighbourhood 
leads  

 Feedback from concerns raised to Lewisham Complaints Team 

 Feedback from concerns raised in Multi Agency Safeguarding Case Conference 
 
 
10) If someone no longer can qualify for help with social care but cannot afford to pay 
commercial rates what happens to them and does the Council arrange any monitoring 
of their situation?  
 
The aim of adult social care help is to support people to regain their independence, so in it is 

a positive outcome if a service has ended. However it may well be that the person has regained 

their skills with personal care, but still requires help with domestic care, as an example. The 

Care Act 2014 is very specific that it must be two or more tasks of daily living that makes a 

person eligible for adult social care support. Services would never be withdrawn if that was 

not the case. 

Before any service is ended, staff would check upon benefits and make sure that incomes are 

maximised, and only make the change once this has happened.   The welfare benefits people 

are paid by central government area mechanism to allow people to pay privately for lower 

levels of care. We always insure that benefits checks are undertaken and people access their 

entitlement 

As part of our approach, staff also look to help people needing that type of support to think 

about their own personal network to see what other help may be available to them. For those 

who feel unable to set up alternative care arrangements staff provide that help. 

We help people access the voluntary sector and professional groups who are extremely active 

within neighbourhoods and provide regular feedback on individual cases as they become 

known. This allows targeted dialogue at a local level to help resolve any issues. 

Following on from any involvement, and the ending of a service, there is no follow up with that 

person as such.  However, it is always made clear to people, that should their situation change 

then they should not hesitate to make contact again with the department.      

 

Generally  
 
 
1) What is happening on the “front-line” with the “preventative” services given cuts 

to the voluntary sector (e.g. the closure of small lunch clubs)? 
 
To support these changes the Council has placed an even stronger emphasis upon 

collaboration and partnership with the voluntary sector and health partners, in order to 

maximise opportunities for preventative schemes.  A good example of this is the safe and 

independent living scheme (SAIL) which is already working well in Southwark and has good 

take up, we hope for similar in Lewisham. Anyone can refer to SAIL for a range of health and 

well-being needs, support to improve living conditions, and other help is available around 

safety, security and income.  It is particularly useful for GP’s who often see the neediest people 

coming to the surgery. We know from working with a variety of older residents in Lewisham 

through the Community Connections scheme that it is these issues that have the greatest 

impact on long term health and well-being, often rooted in social isolation. 

Page 16



To further strengthen community provision the community development workers of 

Community Connections continue to make strong links with newly formed groups in the four 

neighbourhood communities of Lewisham. The focus of their work is to support the group’s 

development and help with their ability to manage long term with change. The interest groups 

they support are wide and diverse, but good feedback has been received about their success, 

and the networks are growing. An example of a very strong initiative that has a rolling 

programme in all the four neighbourhoods is the ‘Techy Tea ‘ party, which is an opportunity 

for those with limited skills in the new technologies to learn some more and meet with others. 

We have found through working with these groups where the gaps in services exist, and as 

an example have identified befriending as one of the key areas for development.  In terms of  

looking differently at resource availability, Community Connections are growing a supply of 

volunteers who have shown an interest in giving back to the Lewisham community, so they 

are well placed to support a new befriending scheme.    This shows the way we are shaping 

provision and it is very much about tailoring available resources to where there is a demand. 

A much broader community forum has recently been established to bring together 
representation from all sectors of Lewisham’s community sector and it is tasked to improve 
on already established foundations for developing community based support. 
 
 
2) Do you have any data on attendance at A&E by Lewisham residents over 65 and 

delayed discharge at Lewisham Hospital? 
 

Adult Social Care does not have access to Lewisham and Greenwich Trust figures on 

attendance at A&E by Lewisham residents over 65. We are able to confirm nationally 

published figures for quarter 3, 2016-17 (October – December), at 31st December 2016 there 

had been 71,715 A&E attendances from adults into A&E.  The figures published do not allow 

us to segregate under 65 adults from over 65’s. 

In the first 9 months of the year 2016/17, we have had 3 delayed discharges at Lewisham 

Hospital.   

In the first three reportable quarters of 16/17, Lewisham Adult Social Care attributable delays 

totalled 12 people = 183 days. 

Hospital reporting delay No. of People Delayed No. of Days reported 

Lewisham Hospital 3 70 

Kings 5 76  

Princess Royal 4 11 

Other 1 26 

 

No adults social care delays have been due to Packages of Care in the community. 

During this period 2 delays have been due to the legal process that needs to be undertaken  

in relation to understanding the status of people who have “no access to public funds”, in 

particular the issues have related housing problems. 

The remaining Adult Social Care delays have been due to sourcing complex Residential and 

Nursing EMI placements, the issues relating to this are highlighted above. 

 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Healthier Communities Select Committee 

Title SLaM quality account 

Contributor Scrutiny Manager Item 4 

Class Part 1 (open) 13 June 2017 

 
1. Purpose 
 

As part of South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust’s plan to share and 
invite comments and contributions to its quality account, it has submitted the draft 
2016-17 account to the Committee (attached). 
 
The quality account highlights performance in key areas so that partners and staff 
know how the Trust is performing and how it is working to improve quality. 

 
3. Recommendations 
 

The Select Committee is asked to: 
 

 Review the draft account and agree any comments it wishes to make. 
 

For further information, please contact John Bardens, Scrutiny Manager, on 
02083149976. 

 
 
 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

   

 
DRAFT Quality Account for 2016/2017 

 
 

(To be formatted professionally for publication) 

 
 

 

 

Page 21



2 

 

CONTENTS PAGE 

 Contents  

Part 1 Statement on Quality from the Chief Executive 

Successes and Developments 

What we can do better 

3 

5 

6 

Part 2 Priorities for Improvement and statements of assurance from the Board 

Our priorities for improvement for 2016/2017  

Care Quality Commission (CQC); Inspection September 2017 Results and Actions 

Audit  

 Participation in National Quality Improvement Programmes 

 Trust Clinical Audit Programme 

Patients participating in research 

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation ( CQUIN) 

Hospital Episode Statistics Data – HES 

Information Governance 

Payment by Results Clinical Coding 

Improving Data Quality 

National indicators 2015/2016 

 Care Programme Approach (CPA) 7 Day follow-up 

 Access to Crisis Resolution Home Treatment (Home Treatment Team) 

 Readmissions to hospital within 28 days of discharge 

 Service Users Experience of Health and Social Care Staff 

 Core Indicators 

Patient safety incidents resulting in severe harm or death 

Duty of Candour 

 

 

8 

13 

16 

16 

20 

24 

24 

25 

26 

26 

26 

26 

26 

27 

28 

28 

29 

30 

31 

Part 3 Review of Quality Performance 2016/2017 

National Patient Survey 2015 Results 

National Staff Survey 2015 – Results 

SLaM Equality Information and Objectives 

33 

45 

46 

49 

Annex 1 Responses to Quality Accounts from: 

 To be added  

 

 

Annex 2 To be added  

Annex 3 Glossary 51 

Part 1: 

Page 22



3 

 

Statement on quality from the Chief Executive of the NHS 

Foundation Trust 

The annual quality account report is an important way for the Trust to report on quality and show 

improvements in the services we deliver to local communities and stakeholders.  

The National Health Service (NHS) is facing unprecedented financial pressures; these 
pressures are experienced in our Trust and we have worked hard to ensure the quality of care 
has not been compromised.  
 
This year has been an important year in improving the quality of the service we provide to both 
our patients and carers. We have made a really good start to our Quality Improvement (QI) 
work. Many staff have already attended training, and a raft of QI initiatives are now in train 
across the Trust. It is core to our strategy to deliver long term sustainability through our pursuit 
of quality and value. Most importantly we are continuing to deliver high quality care to all of the 
people who use our services. One way in which this is reflected is through external recognition – 
for example the individuals and teams who were winners in five categories at the recent Royal 
College of Psychiatrists awards. 
 
Working in close partnership with the people who make use of our services, their friends, 
families, carers and local communities is key to our ability to support people in achieving the 
best possible health outcomes.  For QI to work within our trust, it is also key that these 
partnerships run through our improvement projects at all levels of the organisation. It is with this 
in mind, we will be opening up our QI training to those who use our services along with their 
friends, families and carers.    
 
We recognise that valuing staff is an important feature in providing high quality care and in 2016 
we held our first Trustwide staff awards, which was a successful day in recognising the 
contributions staff make in delivering quality care. We are also proud that the national staff 
survey showed that the Trust scored above the national average for staff recommending the 
organisation as a place to work. It is recognised that engaged staff who feel supported and 
empowered at work provide the best quality care therefore building on our success in this area 
will remain a priority.  
 
The Care Quality Commission (CQC) carried out week long focussed inspections of both our 
Acute and Mental Health Older Adults (MHOA) pathways to ensure implementation of the 
actions plans following the 2015 inspection. At this point we have only received the formal 
written feedback to the Acute re-inspection, which I am pleased has resulted in the Trust no 
longer having any services that are rated 'inadequate' in any of the five domains and has 
highlighted positive improvements delivered by our staff since our 2015 inspection.  We are 
awaiting the final report for our MHOA services but initial verbal feedback has again been 
positive in highlighting improvements made. We remain committed to keep improving the quality 
of services, our top priority in the year ahead. 

The CQC’s publication of its rating and full report can be found at the following website: 
http://www.cqc.org.uk/provider/RV5  

To our best knowledge the information presented in this report is accurate and I hope you will 
find it informative and stimulating. 
 

Page 23



4 

 

Dr Matthew Patrick 
Chief Executive Officer 

  

Page 24



5 

 

A summary of successes and developments in 2016/2017 
 
AREA SUCCESS/DEVELOPMENTS 

Care Quality Commission (CQC)  Sustained the overall Inspection rating of ‘Good’ given in 2015. 

 Acute and MHOA compliance inspections demonstrated improvements 

as a result of action plans. 

ICT/Technology   SLaM’s Chief Information Officer (CIO) was ranked 55th in the UK top 

100 Chief Information Officers  

Research  The Pioneering research registration scheme has had over 10,000 

patients agree to be contacted to participate in research, following the   

“Consent for Contact” (C4C) programme.   

 SLaM was rated the top mental health trust in the country for 

recruiting patients to clinical studies, in October 2016, by the National 

Institute for Health Research (NIHR) and Clinical Research Network 

(CRN). 

Awards/Creditations  In September 2016, the Director of the NIHR Maudsley Biomedical 

Research Centre won the prestigious “Katon Research Award” from 

the Academy of Psychosomatic Medicine.   

 In October 2016, Forensic inpatient services won six awards in the 

Koestler Trust Awards. The awards were for art work done by service 

users from River House. 

 The Psychological Interventions Clinic for Outpatients with Psychosis 

(PiCup) Clinic is shortlisted for the 2017 HSJ Value in Healthcare 

Awards.  The awards are for NHS services that responded to the NHS’ 

drive to improve the cost effectiveness of its care.  The service is 

nominated for two awards. 

 Seven researchers received prestigious “Senior Investigator Awards” 

from NIHR research wing of NHS. 

 Organisers of the Schwartz Round won an award for the Best Academic 

Poster at Points of Care Foundation’s annual Schwartz Community 

Conference. 

 In June 2016, the ward manager of Acorn Lodge Inpatient children’s 

unit was shortlisted for Nurse of the Year in the prestigious Nursing 

Times Awards.   

Page 25



6 

 

 A SLaM pharmacist won UKCPA Patient Safety Award for their pilot 

scheme.  It was for work in pharmaceutical care of patients on 

“psychotropic” medication in an acute hospital.  

 Local Care Record won an award at eHealth Insider (EHI) Award held in 

September 2016.  The category was “Best use of IT to support 

integrated health care services”.  The service joins up patient records 

between GP practices in Lambeth and Southwark with Guy’s & St 

Thomas’, Kings College Hospital (KCH) and SLaM.   

 The National Adult Outpatient Neurodevelopmental Clinic won the 

“Outstanding Health Services” award at the Autism Professionals 

Awards held in March 2017 (National Autistic Society’s). 

External Organisations   Public Health England (PHE) are working to promote NHS being 

tobacco free and they have encouraged NHS to follow SLaM, as SLaM 

is one of the first mental health trusts to be smoke free  

24 hour crisis Line  The SLaM 24 hour crisis helpline was one of the top ten most read 

stories in the “Mental Health Today” (MHT).  The MHT is a guide to 

understanding and achieving the best in mental healthcare. 

Other 

 

 The Bethlem Hospital’s new Gallery and Museum space in the original 

hospital administration building was shortlisted down to the last 4 for 

the national museum of the year award. 

Table one: A summary of successes and developments in 2016/2017 

 
…..and what we can do better. 
 

 We need to improve in the areas that the CQC inspectors judged to require further improvement in 
their last two visits, whilst the Trust is awaiting the final version report the areas raised verbally 
included; 

 Improve staff levels and vacancies, a reduction in prone restraint, individualised care planning. 
 

 
All these have been translated into quality priorities for 2017/18.   
 
Trust Activity 
 
During 2016/2017 the Trust provided or subcontracted 255 services including inpatient wards, 
outpatient and community services. As well as serving the communities of south London, we 
provide 53 specialist services for children and adults across the UK including perinatal services, 
eating disorders, psychosis and autism. We provide inpatient care for approximately 3,900 

Page 26



7 

 

people each year and we treat more than 67,000 patients in the community in Lambeth, 
Southwark, Lewisham and Croydon, with a local population of 1.3 million with a rich diversity. 
 
South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust (SLaM) has reviewed all the data available 
to us on the quality of care in these relevant health services. 

The income generated by the relevant health services reviewed in 2016/17 represents 100% of 

the total income generated from the provision of relevant health services by SLaM for 2016/17 

  

Page 27



8 

 

Part 2:  Priorities for Improvement and statements of 

assurance from the Board 

Our priorities for improvement for 2017/2018  

Over the last year we have listened to feedback from service users, their families, carers, staff, 
local Healthwatches, Council of Governors as well as commissioners and regulators. A Trust 
Quality priority setting event was held on the 22nd February 2017 with all our stakeholders.   This 
feedback alongside feedback from CQC focused visits in January and March 2017 as well as 
Trust information from complaints, serious incidents and audits has helped us to identify our 
future priorities.   
 
The Trust is committed to being a learning organisation and will continue the work underway to 
ensure outcomes from incidents, CQC Mental Health Act (MHA) inspections, complaints will all 
be used to improve the care we deliver. 
 

Quality Improvement  
 
Over the last year the Trust has seen a drive to improve the quality of care we provide and the 
implementation of the Trust Improvement strategy by using Quality Improvement methodology. 
The Trust has made a really good start to our Quality Improvement work with many staff now 
trained in QI methodology. It is this pursuit of quality and value that will deliver longer term 
sustainability.  

 
Mission Statement 
 

 

 
How we plan to do it 

We aim to become an organisation with a culture of continuous improvement that is based on 
service users, carers, staff and key partners working together. We want to improve outcomes 
and experiences for all people who use our services, and improve the value of the care we 
provide. 

This is a bottom up approach, not top down. The programme will support staff to learn and use 
quality improvement methods, involving and engaging everyone in thinking about how to 
improve services. 

Trust Improvement Plan   
 
The aim of the Trust improvement plan is to deliver the Right Care in the Right Place at the 
Right Time with the Right Value. This will be achieved through delivering a person centred 
approach, improving safety, experience, outcomes and delivering balanced budgets within 
agreed time frames.  The strategy is outlined in the graph below. 

 

Page 28



9 

 

 
Graph one: Trust Improvement plan  

The quality indicators below align to both the Trust Improvement plan outlined above and the 
nationally set areas of patient safety, clinical effectiveness and patient experience.  

 
Quality Priorities 2017/2018   
 
The priorities for 2017/2018 have been arranged under three broad domains which, put 
together, provide the national definition of quality in NHS services: patient safety, clinical 
effectiveness and patient experience.  Progress on achievement of these priorities will be 
reported on in next year’s Quality Accounts. 

 

P
at

ie
n

t 
Sa

fe
ty

 

1.Reducing Restrictive Interventions 
 

Aim Reducing Violence 

Quality Indicator Reducing restrictive interventions; prone restraint, 
Inpatient areas 
 
Reduction of 50% in prone restraint 
 
Baseline: year  16/17 874 

 
How progress will be monitored Quality Service Committee (QSC), Board, 

Performance monitoring reports, Safe and 
Therapeutic Services Committee (STSC) 

 

Page 29



10 

 

P
at

ie
n

t 
Sa

fe
ty

 2.Violence & Aggression Reduction 
 

Aim Reducing Violence 

Quality Indicator Violence and aggression reduction of 50%  
 

Baseline: Year 16/17, Inpatient areas  1819 
How progress will be monitored QSC, Board, Performance monitoring reports, STSC 

 

P
at

ie
n

t 
Sa

fe
ty

 3. Staffing 
 

Aim Staffing Levels 

Quality Indicator >50% wards reduction of average inpatient ward 
breaches per month 

Baseline: 20 wards 
How progress will be monitored QSC, Board, Performance monitoring reports 

 

C
lin

ic
al

 E
ff

e
ct

iv
e

n
e

ss
 

4. Digital Health 

Aim A reduction in mortality of people with severe 
mental health problems 

Quality Indicator Further develop electronic systems to improve 
delivery of care (eOBS) across all Trust service 
areas.  
 
>50% of all Adult inpatient wards  
 
Baseline: 2 wards 

How progress will be monitored QSC, Board, Performance monitoring reports, 
Quality Dashboard, Physical healthcare project 
Board 

 

C
lin

ic
al

 E
ff

e
ct

iv
e

n
e

ss
 

5. Physical Health Awareness 
 

Aim A reduction in mortality of people with severe 
mental health problems 

Quality Indicator Ensure clinical and non-clinical staff have received 
level 1 physical health awareness training across all 
Trust service areas. 
 
Target 65% 
Baseline 0% 

How progress will be monitored QSC, Board, Performance monitoring reports, 
Quality Dashboard, Physical healthcare Committee 
LEAP Education and training 

 
 

Page 30



11 

 

C
lin

ic
al

 E
ff

e
ct

iv
e

n
e

ss
 

6. Physical Health Screening and Intervention 
 

Aim A reduction in mortality of people with severe 
mental health problems 

Quality Indicator Inpatients and early intervention patients will have 
90% or greater rates for each metabolic screening 
parameter and where indicated, interventions.  
 
Patients with psychotic illnesses in longer term 
follow up (CPA) will have 65% or greater for 
screening / intervention rates.   
 
Inpatient and EI Target 90% 
Community CPA Target 65% 

Baselines 
Inpatients:  
 
 
 
Early Intervention 
Services: 
 
 
Community CPA: 
 

 
77% metabolic screening, 
60% intervention 
 
 
52% metabolic screening,  
61% intervention 
 
 
41% metabolic screening, 
51% intervention 

How progress will be monitored QSC, Board, Performance monitoring reports, 
Quality Dashboard, Physical healthcare Committee 
LEAP Education and training 

 
 

P
at

ie
n

t 
Ex

p
er

ie
n

ce
 

7. Family and Carer Engagement 
 

Aim Ensure Family and Carer Engagement 

Quality Indicator 75% of identified carers in all Trust service areas 
will have been offered a Carers Engagement and 
Support Plan. 
 
Baseline: 0 ( new form) 

How progress will be monitored QSC, Board, Performance monitoring reports, 
Quality Dashboard, Carer and Family strategy 
meeting 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 31



12 

 

P
at

ie
n

t 
Ex

p
er

ie
n

ce
 

8. Care Closer to Home- Inpatient Admissions 
 

Aim Reduction in overall admissions because patients 
are better managed in their illnesses at home as is 
appropriate 

Quality Indicator 10% reduction in admissions in Trust Inpatient 
Adult Services.  
 
Reduction in admissions from 8 to 7 per day 

 
How progress will be monitored QSC, Board, Performance monitoring reports, 

Quality Dashboard 

 

P
at

ie
n

t 
Ex

p
er

ie
n

ce
 

9. Care closer to home- Length of Stay 
 

Aim Reduction in overall admissions because patients 
are better managed in their illnesses at home as is 
appropriate 

Quality Indicator 30% reduction in Length of stay (LOS) in Trust 
Inpatient Adult services.  
 
Reduction in LOS from 45 days to 30 days 

How progress will be monitored QSC, Board, Performance monitoring reports, 
Quality Dashboard 

 

St
af

f 
Ex

p
e

ri
e

n
ce

 

10. Staff Health and Well-Being 
 

Aim To improve structures and processes that facilitate 

positive staff experience.  

Quality Indicator Increase of 5 % of staff reporting the organisation 
definitely takes positive action on health and well-
being. ( CQUIN) 
 
Baseline: 25% in 2015 staff survey  

How progress will be monitored QSC, Board, Performance monitoring reports, 

Quality Dashboard (Friends and Family Test 

quarterly) 

Staff survey 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 32



13 

 

St
af

f 
Ex

p
e

ri
e

n
ce

 

11. Management of Work Related Stress 
 

Aim To improve structures and processes that facilitate 

positive staff experience.  

Quality Indicator Decrease of 5% of staff saying they have felt unwell 
in the last 12 months as a result of work related 
stress (CQUIN) 
 
Baseline: 43% 2015 staff survey 

How progress will be monitored QSC, Board, Performance monitoring reports, 

Quality Dashboard (Friends and Family Test 

quarterly) 

Staff survey 

 

Table two: Quality Priorities 2017/2018 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

St
af

f 
Ex

p
e

ri
e

n
ce

 

12. Staff recommendation of the organisation as a place to work 

 

Aim To improve structures and processes that facilitate 

positive staff experience.  

Quality Indicator Achieve >70% on average across the year of staff 
reporting they would recommend the organisation 
as a place to work.  

 
Baseline: 63% in 2016/17 

How progress will be monitored QSC, Board, Performance monitoring reports, 

Quality Dashboard (Friends and Family Test 

quarterly) 

Staff survey 

Page 33



14 

 

Care Quality Commission (CQC); Inspection September 2017 Results and Actions 
 
SLaM is required to be registered with the CQC and its current registration status is registered, 
without condition.   In 2016/2017 SLaM has participated in special reviews or investigations by 
the Care Quality Commission relating to the following areas; MHOA and Acute pathway.  SLaM 
is currently awaiting the final report and findings from MHOA which may result in a change in 
the grid below, which is the current overall and service specific ratings following the results of 
the comprehensive inspection of some of our services by the CQC in 2015 and Acute in 2017.  
 
SLaM made the following progress by 31st March 2017 in taking such action outlined in table 4. 
The CQC has not taken enforcement action against SLaM during the period 2016/17. 
 

 
Table three: Care Quality Commission Inspection Results 

Page 34



15 

 

The table below outlines some of the quality improvement work currently being undertaken as a 
result of the CQC live action plans from both 2015 and 2017 inspections. 

 

Area of 
Improvement 

Actions undertaken 

Staffing  E- rostering redesign 

 Assessment days reviewed and changed. 

 Media and recruitment campaigns 

 Development of Band 4 Assistant practitioner role job  

 Staff retention initiatives implemented. 
 

Food  New menu introduced  

 Implemented interactive meal times  

 New catering contract  

 Forensic wards – Activity of daily living kitchen  
  

Reducing 
Restraint 

 The Trust has developed a reducing restrictive interventions three year strategy 

 The strategy provides a framework for the reduction of restrictive interventions across 
all in-patient services in line with the DH 
Positive and Safe initiative (2014) 

 Continued roll out of violence reduction programme called ‘Four Steps 
to Safety’ 
 

Environment  Above national average in PLACE scores in: 

 Cleanliness  

 Condition, appearance and maintenance 

 Privacy, dignity and wellbeing 
 

Privacy and 
Dignity 

 Vistamatic windows programme 

 Variety of daily activities and individual goal setting. 
 

Creating and 
sustaining 
a culture of 
continuous 
Improvement 
 

Since the CQC inspection in 2015 we have appointed the Institute of Healthcare Improvement 
and an internal Quality Improvement Team to support us all in our drive to improve the quality 
of everything we do, with transformation projects now taking place at a local ward and team 
level. 

Table four: CQC Actions 

 
Managing Clinical Risk 

Managing clinical risk is central to all the work that we do, to manage risk all clinical staff receive 
clinical risk management training commensurate with their grade and experience.  

 

 

 

Page 35



16 

 

Audit 

Participation in National Quality Improvement Programmes    

National quality accreditation schemes, and national clinical audit programmes are important for 
a number of reasons. They provide a way of comparing our services and practice with other 
Trusts across the country, they provide assurances that our services are meeting the highest 
standards set by the professional bodies, and they also provide a framework for quality 
improvement for participating services.  
 
The National Clinical Audits and National Confidential Inquires that SLaM participated in, and for 
which data collection was completed during 2016/2017, are listed below. During that period 
SLaM participated in 100% of national clinical audits 6/6 and 100% of National Confidential 
Inquiries 1/1 which it was eligible to participate in.  
 
The National Clinical Audits and National Confidential Inquiries that SLaM participated in, and 
was eligible to participate in during 2016/17 are listed below:  

 The 5 national, Prescribing Observatory for Mental Health - POMH-UK audits:  

 Use of sodium valproate 

 Prescribing for substance misuse: alcohol detoxification 

 Prescribing antipsychotic medication for people with dementia 

 Monitoring of patients prescribed lithium 

 Rapid tranquilisation 

 The Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) 2016/17 Indicator 4a: Improving 
Physical Healthcare to Reduce Premature Mortality in People with Severe Mental Illness 
(SMI) 

 The national confidential inquiry into suicide and homicide by people with mental illness  

 
The reports of six national clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2016/2017 and SLaM 
intends to take the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided  
 
POMH-UK audits 
 
Participation in the five Prescribing Observatory Audits (POMH-UK) managed by the Royal 
College of Psychiatrist’s Centre for Quality Improvement 
 
SLAM pharmacy has collected and submitted data for the 2016-17 POMH-UK audits, as 
required.  
 
Below is a summary of the findings from those audits: 
 
i) Use of sodium valproate 

The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) recommends that valproate should 
not routinely be prescribed for women of childbearing age. In addition to this, all patients 
prescribed valproate should have an annual physical health check. In 2015, the Trust 
participated in the national POMH-UK audit of valproate prescribing for bipolar disorder. Results 
of the audit were reported by POMH in March 2016. 
 

Page 36



17 

 

Overall, the rate of prescription of valproate for women of childbearing age was found to be 
higher in SLaM than in the average national sample (33% vs 8%). Physical health monitoring 
was evident for more patients prescribed valproate in SLaM than the national average. 
 
Actions: The Trust is following MHRA guidance for valproate prescribing in women of child 
bearing age: Women are assessed for the need for valproate and treatment is only initiated or 
continued where absolutely necessary. Women prescribed valproate are informed of its risks in 
pregnancy, advised to avoid becoming pregnant, offered a contraceptive and prescribed folic 
acid. 
 
ii) Prescribing for substance misuse: alcohol detoxification 

Results of this national audit showed that patients admitted to a SLaM in-patient unit for alcohol 
detoxification are more likely to have their physical health monitored compared with the national 
average. However, assessment for Wernicke’s encephalopathy and prescription of parenteral 
thiamine was lower in SLaM than in the national sample. 

Actions: The results have been discussed with the Addictions nurse consultant and the doctor 
leading the audit. An improvement programme has been implemented. 

iii) Prescribing antipsychotic medication for people with dementia 

NICE guidance recommends against the routine use of antipsychotics for patients with 
dementia. When considering an antipsychotic the risks must be discussed with the patient and 
their carers. In addition, antipsychotic use should be regularly reviewed and the indication 
documented in the patient’s notes.   
  
The Trust recently participated in a national audit of the prescribing of antipsychotics for patients 
with dementia. The results showed that the rate of antipsychotic prescription in dementia was 
comparable with the average national sample. The indication for antipsychotic prescription was 
documented for the majority of SLaM patients. Medication reviews were evident for a higher 
proportion of patients in SLaM than in the average national sample. However, discussions of the 
risks of antipsychotics use were not evident for many patients in SLaM. 
 
Actions: The results have been discussed with the MHOA CAG. An improvement programme 
has been implemented. 
 
iv) Monitoring of patients prescribed lithium 

Patients prescribed lithium must have their renal and thyroid function tested before starting 
lithium and at least every six months whilst maintained on treatment. Lithium plasma levels 
should be monitored at least every six months.  

Results of the 2016 National Audit showed that renal and thyroid function tests were completed 
before lithium initiation for more patients in SLaM than in the national average. However 
physical health and plasma level monitoring was evident for fewer SLaM patients during 
maintenance treatment than in the national sample. 

Actions: Results have been shared with CAG leads and are being reported in the medicines 
bulletin. 

 

 

Page 37



18 

 

v) Rapid Tranquilisation 

Results of the 2015 audit showed that whilst prescribing for rapid tranquilisation was consistent 
with trust guidance physical health monitoring after administration of parenteral medication was 
not evident for all patients. The trust has submitted data for the 2016 national audit of rapid 
tranquilisation. Results are due to reported by POMH later this year. 

In the meantime, we have analysed data locally for a sample of patients who received 
medication for rapid tranquilisation. There appears to have been an improvement in physical 
health monitoring, when loosely defined as eyesight observations. However, physical health 
monitoring as recommended by NICE and the trust guidelines is still poor.  

Data for this audit were collected from ePJS. It is possible that as previously suggested, 
physical parameters are recorded on MEWS chart, which are then not available on ePJS. The 
introduction of eOBS (electronic MEWS) will improve availability of information on ePJS. 

Actions: The recommendations for physical health monitoring following RT (including 
documentation) have been re-issued to clinical staff. The physical health monitoring audit will be 
repeated on wards using eOBS. 

Other trust-wide patient safety audits and quality improvement programmes 

Dose omissions 

All doses of medicines prescribed for an in-patient must be administered at the time specified, 
unless there is a valid reason for the dose being delayed or omitted. The administration box for 
each prescribed dose must be either signed by the person who administered the dose or 
annotated with a valid reason for the dose being missed. 

The trust conducts an annual survey of the number of doses of regularly prescribed medicines 
for which the corresponding administration box is blank (neither signed as administered nor 
annotated with a reason for dose omission). 

Results of the 2016 audit showed an improvement from previous years: 0.6% of administration 
boxes were left blank compared with 1% in previous years. 

Actions: Results have been sent to the relevant CAG leads. In addition, ways of improving 
practice are being discussed by the medicines safety and trust nurse executive committees. 

Allergy status documentation 

The allergy status for each patient should be documented on the prescription and in the ‘alert’ 
section of ePJS. Results of the 2016 audit were similar to the previous year: 100% of patients 
had their allergy status documented on their prescription and in 74% of cases the prescription 
was consistent with the patient’s recorded allergy status in ePJS. 

Action: A project aimed at improving the documentation in ePJS of patients’ medication and 
allergy status is currently underway. The project group has representation from trust medical, 
nursing, pharmacy and ePJS teams. 

Antibiotic prescribing 

Results of the 2016 antibiotic prescribing audit showed that 90% of patients prescribed an 
antibiotic had the indication for the prescription documented in ePJS. The choice of antibiotic 
was deemed appropriate for all patients, according to the trust antimicrobial guidelines. Results 

Page 38



19 

 

have been reported at the trust infection control committee and are included in the medicines 
bulletin. 

vi) CQUIN Indicator 4a: Improving Physical Healthcare to Reduce Premature Mortality in People 

with Severe Mental Illness (SMI) 2016/17 

The Trust participated in data collection and entry onto the NHSE online Webform Portal from 
December 2016 to February 2017. Confirmation was received from the Royal College of 
Psychiatrists. Results from the audit are pending. 

 

Results received in 2015/16  

National CQUIN Indicator 4a: Improving Physical Healthcare to Reduce Premature Mortality in 

People with Severe Mental Illness (SMI) 2015/16 

During December 2015 and January 2016, the Trust collected and entered (onto the NHSE 
online Webform Portal) data for the National CQUIN audit. The Trust was assessed against the 
following parameters: 

1. Smoking status  

2. Lifestyle (including exercise, diet, alcohol and drugs)  

3. Body Mass Index  

4. Blood pressure  

5. Glucose regulation (HbA1c or fasting glucose or random glucose as appropriate)  

6. Blood lipids  

  

Performance against the CQUIN is presented as a single percentage figure for each provider, 
calculated on the basis of the following:  

  

a) The denominator will be the total number of inpatients in the sample. 

b) The numerator will be the total number of patients in the sample for whom there was 
documented evidence that: 

• they were screened for all six measures listed in the CQUIN guidance during their 
inpatient stay; and 

where clinically indicated, they were directly provided with, or referred onwards to other 
services for interventions for each identified problem (with thresholds for intervention 
being as set out in NICE guidelines). 

 

The data submitted to NHSE is outlined below: 

Page 39



20 

 

Table five: CQUIN Indicator 4a results 

vii) National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Homicide by People with Mental Illness 

(NCISH) 

The Trust participated in the NCISH. Data for the NCISH reviewed suicide data over a 10 year 
period (2004-2014). Following a themed review of suicides in SLaM which was completed in 
2015/16, a number of recommendations have been implemented, including: 

 The launch of a new Risk Assessment Tool on ePJS 

 Audits on the management of self-harm have been completed (the findings are outlined 
below in the Trust Clinical Audit Programme)  

 Audits on carers’ assessments and care plans have been completed.  

Trust Clinical Audit Programme 

The reports of 25 local Trust wide clinical audits have been completed in 2016/17 and where 
relevant, have been reviewed by the appropriate Trust committees for the development of 
actions to improve the quality of health care provided. A summary of some of the key audits are 
outlined below. 
 

  

Standard/Indicator CQUIN 

SLAM I/P 
Q4 15/16 

Target= 
90% 

(n=100) 

Monitoring of physical health risk   

Monitoring of smoking 99% 

Monitoring of BMI 95% 

Monitoring of glucose control 93% 

Monitoring of lipids 89% 

Monitoring of blood pressure 99% 

Monitoring of 5 risk factors in those with established 
cardiovascular disease 

N/A 

Assessment of physical activity 43% 

Assessment of diet 96% 

Assessment of substance misuse 97% 

Monitoring of alcohol consumption 97% 

Intervention offered for identified physical health risks  

Intervention for smoking 97% 

Intervention for BMI >/= 25kg/m2 85% 

Intervention for abnormal glucose control 96% 

Intervention for elevated blood pressure 88% 

Intervention for physical activity 100% 

Intervention for diet 91% 

Intervention for substance misuse 81% 

Intervention for alcohol misuse 67% 

 

Page 40



21 

 

 Management of Violence and Aggression: Physical Interventions 

The audit provided insight into practices of physical restraint within inpatient services which the 
Trust is committed to addressing. Most physical restraints were carried out on men; service 
users from Black Minority Ethnic (BME) backgrounds; and service users being treated under the 
MHA.  

Physical restraints were mostly prompted by service user to staff aggression. Much of the 
behaviour which led to the restraint did not have a ‘trigger’ as such and was thought to be 
related to the service user being unwell at the time of the incident. However, where triggers 
were identified these centered around the themes of: medication, other services, property/ items 
and leave. These themes may be important areas for consideration in taking steps to reduce 
violence and aggression in inpatient settings.  

The Trust has been developing a ‘Reducing Restrictive Interventions’ Strategy which will 
provide a sustainable framework for clinical services in the reduction of the use of restraint, 
prone restraint and seclusion.  

The 4-Steps to Safety violence reduction programme continues to be rolled out across the in-
patient services.  

 Missing persons’ policy for detained patients (AWOL) and informal patients 

An audit was completed in 2016 to assess compliance with the Trust Missing and Absent 
Persons’ policy for detained patients (AWOL) and informal patients, 2015; and to identify any 
deficiencies in care and make recommendations to address these.  

 Care provision was good in respect of reporting the incidents on DATIX, completing risk 
assessment, recording the AWOL Forms one and two, and reporting patients as missing to 
the police.  

 There was room for improvement for informing the police of high risk informal patients who 
had gone missing.  

 The audit found key focus for improvement needed to be given to the documenting of leave 
care plans on electronic patient journey system (ePJS) and fact finding reports being 
completed for C Grade incidents.  

The report recommended that leave care plans should be documented and updated as and 
when necessary in line with Trust policy, as well as improved documentation of risk 
assessments. The documentation of risk assessments is expected to improve with the new Risk 
Assessment Tool which was launched on ePJS in January 2017.  

The completion of fact finding reports for Grade C incidents is also expected to improve since 
the launch of the electronic fact finding report on DATIX in April 2016.   

 Seclusion of Service Users 

This report focuses on examining the use of seclusion, compliance of staff to procedures and 
policy within the SLaM Seclusion Policy version 7(2015) and NICE Violence Guideline (2005). 
Authority to seclude a service user who is an inpatient has long been recognised as a 
necessary element in dealing with patients who pose a risk of significant harm to others and 
staff. 

Page 41



22 

 

Overall, compliance with policy standards was lower than the performance from the previous 
Seclusion audit which was completed in 2012.  

 There was high compliance around the authority to initiate seclusion, doctors attending 
reviews after seclusion was initiated, and medical reviews being completed within 30 
minutes of seclusion being initiated.  

 Most of the service users had a risk assessment completed within the current spell at the 
time of the incident, and documentation for care plans were adequately evidenced on ePJS.  

 The characteristics of the seclusion rooms showed high compliance policy standards.  

 More than half of the informal patients were assessed under the Mental Health Act shortly 
after being placed in seclusion. 

 The emergency team was contacted for half of the incidents leading to seclusion. 

 Care plans were formulated or updated for just over half of the incidents after seclusion was 
terminated or following decisions to continue seclusion.  

 Service users were rarely informed of the reason for being placed in seclusion. 

 Patient observations were inconsistent for all services users.  

The report puts forward a number of recommendations aimed to improve the use of seclusion in 
compliance with the Trust policy. These include regular refresher training for staff; and improved 
documentation around the duration of seclusion, service user activities and physical 
observations on ePJS and seclusion forms. Furthermore, evidence of communication with 
service users regarding the reasons for initiating seclusion also needs to improve.  

 Self-Harm: Longer Term Management 

The NICE Clinical Guideline for Self-Harm: Longer Term Management details the management 
of single and recurrent episodes of self-harm and the longer term psychological treatment. The 
2016 audit was undertaken to provide assurance that standards detailed in the NICE clinical 
guideline were being adhered to and where compliance was not met, recommendations were 
made to improve the care provided to service users.  

 Care provision was good in respect of assessments of needs and risks, including for older 
adults and children.  

 However, some room for improvement was identified with regards to documenting coping 
strategies, psychosocial and occupational functioning, and the need for dependent 
treatment.  

 There were also gaps in identifying significant relationships that could affect the level of risk, 
and long term risks.  

 There was high compliance with documentation around care plans and risk management 
plans.  

 Psychological interventions for self-harm was offered for all patients and where appropriate 
pharmacological intervention alongside this.  

Page 42



23 

 

 Gaps were highlighted in documentation regarding service user skills, strengths and assets, 
and employment.  

 There were also gaps in documentation regarding occupational rehabilitation.  

Following the report, there has been further promotion of the NICE guideline (2011) to 
psychiatric liaison nurses and doctors in training of recommendations and workshop / training 
sessions.  

The report also recommends the consideration of service user and carer involvement in training 
to address assessment of coping strategies, protective factors and roles of carers. There should 
also be improved understanding between liaison teams and occupation therapists of how to 
assess and address occupational health needs in the liaison setting.  

 Use of Mental Capacity Act (MCA) and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DOLS) audit 

This audit assessed the current compliance with the Mental Capacity Act Policy (May 2015). 

 Compared to the previous audit, the report found that fewer service users had a capacity 
assessment on admission.  

 The most common reason for capacity assessments was for medication and treatment.  

 There was little documented evidence of how service users were helped to make the 
decision as independently as possible.  

 Best interest meeting documentation was variable, however there were high records of 
family/carer involvement.  

 Staff awareness of the use of MCA and DoLS was high.  

Further work in the Trust needs to be done to ensure capacity assessments are completed for 
all admissions. The report also recommends that service users should be encouraged to make 
decisions as independently as possible and this should be documented on ePJS.  

 Informal Patient Experience of Admission 

The audit assessed compliance with the Leave for Informal Patient Policy (2016) and if the 
rights detailed in the ‘Being an Informal Patient’ leaflet (2016) were being upheld.  

 In a majority of cases, patients were allowed to leave the ward when they wanted, and 
where they were not, reasonable explanations were given.  

 Where treatment was refused, this decision was mostly respected.  

 A low percentage of service users were aware of their leave care plans.  

 The leave poster was displayed on all of the wards visited; however it was not always 
positioned for obvious sighting.  

 It was also found there were variations in the versions of posters being used among the 
wards.  

The report recommends that staff should ensure informal inpatient service users are aware of 
their leave care plans, and wherever possible be involved in the care planning.  

Page 43



24 

 

Clinical Academic Group (CAG) leads have also been advised to check the correct Trust 
Informal Patient poster is clearly displayed on wards.   

 Food Satisfaction Survey 

An audit was completed in 2016 to ascertain patient satisfaction with catering and food provision 
offered to patients in inpatient services. The audit found: 

 The monthly menu display board on the Acute wards was not clear in both content or 
visually.  

 While patients appeared overall to enjoy the food, they stated that the quality of the meal 
was not always consistent.  

 Patients were satisfied with portion sizes.  

 There was a poor response regarding access to menu choices except for Forensic services, 
where patients stated they had both access to a menu and always received what they 
ordered.  

 Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS) patients were less satisfied than the 
rest of the organisation.  

The outcome of the audit will be considered in future tendering processes.  

 
Patients participating in research 

The number of patients receiving NHS services provided or sub-contracted by SLaM for the 
reporting period, 1 April 2016 – 31 March 2017, that were recruited during that period to 
participate in research approved by a research ethics committee was 2337. 

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) 
 
As last year, 2.5 % of SLaM income in 2016/2017 is conditional on achieving quality 
improvement and innovation goals agreed between SLaM and any person they entered into an 
agreement with for the provision of relevant health services, through the Commissioning for 
Quality and Innovation payment framework.  The value of these payments for 2016/17 was 
£5.6m. 

Further details of the agreed goals for 2016/2017 and for the following 12 month period are 
available electronically at http://intranet.slam.nhs.uk/cquins/default.aspx. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 44

http://intranet/


25 

 

Hospital Episode Statistics Data – HES 
 
SLaM submitted records during 2016/17 to the Secondary Uses services for inclusion in the 
Hospital Episode Statistics which are included in the latest published data. 
 
The percentage of records in the published data: 

 
 In-Patients – SUS 

data Apr 2016/ Feb 
2017 

Out-patients and Community –MHMDS Apr 
2016/ Feb 2017 ( provisional) 

NHS No 98.2% 99.3% 

GP Practice code 99.8% 98.1% 

Table six:  The percentage of records relating to patient care which included the patient’s NHS No and 
GP practice code. 
 

Information Governance 
 
The Trust’s submission for the annual NHS Information Governance Toolkit for 2016-17 
demonstrated 91% compliance with  national health and social care information governance 
standards (all Level 2 or above), which is satisfactory compliance. SLaM annual submission 
was independently assessed by internal audit with a reasonable assurance outcome.  

The Trust is undergoing a digital transformation programme and has implemented a revised 
Information Governance Operating Model and continued to implement improvements around 
information governance compliance with national standards and key legislation. All IT staff were 
trained according to the Control Objectives for Information and Related Technologies (CoBIT) 
governance framework.  

The Trust closely followed the publication of the new Caldidcott Review and the CQC data 
security review. The recommendations from these national reviews were incorporated in the 
overall IG action plan. The Local Care Record has been launched with trust’s partnership. The 
Local Care Record (LRC) provides timely and secure sharing of relevant patient information 
between care professionals to support direct provision of care within King’s Health Partners, and 
GP practices in Lambeth and Southwark.  

The Trust joined the NHS Digital care CERTassure programme to develop and implement a 
robust cyber security programme.  The information governance team developed new expertise 
around privacy, cyber security and risk management. The information risk assurance process 
was reviewed and updated. The IG team has implemented a dashboard for effective and timely 
monitoring of IG reviews, investigations and compliance reviews. 

The Trust continues to provide clear, concise and up-to-date notification material to service 
users to ensure they are sufficiently information about the way their personal data is utilised with 
opportunities to opt-out of any scheme if they wish to do so.  

Assurance around Information Governance is regularly presented to relevant IG Committees 
chaired by the Caldicott Guardian, the CCIO (Chief Clinical Information Officer) and the Chief 
Information Officer. The Board receives quarterly and annual updates on levels of assurance.  

Page 45



26 

 

Payment by Results Clinical Coding 

SLaM was not subject to payment by results clinical coding audit by the National Audit Office 
during the 2016/2017 financial year. Focus remains on improving the data completeness and 
accuracy of the Mental Health Clustering Tool which may become the payment by results 
currency in mental health. The Clinical Information System has built in alerts to remind clinicians 
that a mental health cluster has expired. 

Improving Data Quality 

SLaM will be taking the following actions to improve data quality: 

 Clinical Academic Groups will be working collaboratively with the Business Intelligence and 
Performance Management teams to improve their data quality.    

 Introduction of modern information reporting toolsets to improve access to information  

 The Quality Improvement Initiative has raised awareness for the need ensure better data 
capture. 

 Improved design of reports promotes the use of information for service improvement 

 Data Quality of Mental Health Services Data Set (MHSDS) and other external submissions 
are routinely checked prior to the submissions. 

 
National indicators 2015/2016 

NHS Outcome Framework Indicators 
 

SLaM is required to report performance against the following indicators: 
 
1. Care Programme Approach (CPA) 7 day follow-up 
2. Access to Crisis Resolution Home Treatment (Home Treatment Team Gatekeeping) 
3. Re-admission to hospital within 28 days of discharge  
 

 
Care Programme Approach (CPA) 7 Day follow-up  
 

Follow up within seven days of discharge from hospital has been demonstrated to be an effective 
way of reducing the overall rate of death by suicide in the UK. Patients on the care programme 
approach (CPA) who are discharged from a spell of inpatient care should be seen within seven 
days. 

 
 
National 

Target 
 

 
SLaM 
2014/15 

 

 
SLaM 
2015/16 

 

 
SLaM 

2016/17 

 

 
National 

Average 

2016/17 

 

Highest 

Trust % 

or Score 

2016/17 

 

Lowest  

Trust % 

Score 

2016/17 

Not 
specified 
(formerly 

95%) 

97.4% 96.99% 97.1% 96.2% (Q3) 100% 28.6% 

 

Table seven: Seven day follow-up 
The lowest/highest and National Average scores (for a Trust) are based on the  Q1-3 scores in 2016/17 published at the 
time of writing the quality account available at www.england.nhs.uk/statistics 
 

Page 46

http://www.england/


27 

 

SLaM considers that this data is as described for the following reasons: There continues to be a 
strong operational and performance focus on this indicator within the Trust.   

The Trust performance continues to be comparable with previous years.  

 

Access to Crisis Resolution Home Treatment (Home Treatment Team)  
 

Home Treatment Teams provide intensive support for people in mental health crisis, in their own 
home. Home Treatment is designed to prevent hospital admissions and give support to families 
and carers. 
 
The indicator here is the percentage of admissions to the Trust’s acute wards that were assessed by 
the crisis resolution home treatment teams prior to admission. 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Nationa
l 

Target 

 

 
 

SLaM 

2014/15 

 
 

SLaM 
2015/16 

 
 

SLaM 

2016/17 

 
 

National 

Average 

2016/17 

 

 

Highest 

Trust % 

or Score 

2016/1
7 

 

 

Lowest  

Trust % 

Score 

2016/1
7 

 

Number of 

admissions to 

acute wards that 

were gate kept 

by the 

CRHT teams 

95% 91.5% 95.9% 96.5% 98.7 (Q3) 100% 76.0% 

Table eight: Access to crisis resolution 
The lowest/highest and National Average scores (for a Trust) are based on the Q1-3 scores in 2016/17 published at the time 
of writing the quality account available at www.england.nhs.uk/statistics 
Note: that Psychiatric Liaison Nurse assessments of patients in Emergency Departments are included in the gatekeeping performance 

figures for previous years. Following the creation of the Assessment and Referral Centre (ARC) in 2016 with embedded Home Treatment 

the ARC now acts as the single point of access for the adult care pathway. PLN’s now refer to ARC who do the HTT assessment as part of 

the admission/diversion process. 

 

SLaM considers that this data is as described for the following reasons: SLaM failed to achieve the 
95% standard in Quarters 1 and 2. In October the development of the Assessment and Referral 
Centre (ARC) and standardisation and development of the Home Treatment Teams has led to 
significant improvements and the thresholds have been met in Quarters 3 and 4.  

SLaM intends to take the following actions to improve this indicator score, and so the quality of its 
services, by further development and embedding of the acute care pathway reconfiguration that has 
occurred in the financial year.  Also to ensure patients get timely access to all settings we must work 
with our partners which include our local acute hospitals where people may be assessed when 
distressed.  

Re-admissions 

The table below provides the emergency readmissions rate within 28 days for adult acute 
patients. The Health and Social Care Information Centre (HSCIC) has not published results for 
2016/17 at the point of writing.  

 

Page 47

http://www.england/


28 

 

Readmissions to hospital within 28 days of discharge  

 

  

SLaM 

2014/15 

SLaM  

2015/16 

SLaM  

2016/17 

 Patients readmitted to 

hospital within 28 days of 
being discharged 

3.95% 2.7% 2.6% 

 Table nine: Readmissions to hospital 

SLaM considers that this data is as described for the following reasons:  

The routine monitoring indicator for readmissions for mental health contracts and Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCG) is readmissions within 30 days. The Benchmarking Network for 
Adult Mental Health report 2015/16 reports that, using a weighted population, the Trust had a 
4.3% emergency readmission rate in comparison to a national mean of 8.4% for emergency 
readmissions within 30 days.  

SLaM intends to take the following actions to improve this indicator score, and so the quality of 
its services, by further development of the Adult mental health pathways.   

Service Users Experience of Health and Social Care Staff 
 

 SLaM 
2015/2016 

SLaM 
2016/2017 

Highest 
Trust % or 
Score 
16/17 

Lowest 
Trust % or 
Score 
16/17 

Service users experience 
of Health and Social Care 
Staff 
Scores out of 10 

7.6 7.5 8.1 6.9 

 
Table ten: Service Users Experience of Health and Social care Staff 

 
SLaM considers that this data is described for the following reasons: 
 
The patient survey responses to the question of how users of services found the health and 
social care staff of the Trust show that in 2016, overall SLaM scores for this section were about 
the same as other mental health Trusts. The average Health and Social Care Worker section 
score for SLaM patients was 7.5 with other Trusts performing in a range of 6.9 to 8.1. Two out of 
three questions maintained the same score as 2015 (Q4 and Q6), whilst Q5 there was a slight 
decrease from 7.6 to 7.3.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 48



29 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Table eleven: Survey of people who use community mental health services 2016 

SLaM intends to take the following actions to improve this indicator score, and so the quality of its 
services, by ensuring service users are involved in the planning of their care and co-producing a 
consensus statement for involvement in own care and taking forward a programme plan to 
deliver on the Trust’s Patient and Public Involvement Strategy. 

Core Indicators 
 
NHS Improvement was formed in 2016 (replacing the previous Foundation Trust regulator 
Monitor). NHS Improvement published the Single Operating Framework with effect from October 
2016. The framework replaced Monitor’s Risk Assessment Framework and introduced new 
measures whilst discontinuing others or changing thresholds. The Quality Account guidance 
advises that the indicators included in both of these frameworks should be reported here. 
 
 
 

Indicator 

 

SLaM 

2016/17 

 

National 

Target 

National 
Target Met 

1. Improving access to psychological 

therapies (IAPT): people with common 

mental health conditions referred to 

the IAPT programme will be treated 

within 6 weeks of referral   

 

89.7% 75%  

2. Improving access to psychological 

therapies (IAPT): people with common 

mental health conditions referred to 

the IAPT programme will be treated 

within 18 weeks of referral  

 

99.3% 95%  

 

3. Care Programme Approach (CPA) 7 Day 

follow- up 
97.1% 

Not 
specified 
(formerly 

95%) 

 

Page 49



30 

 

 

4. Patients requiring acute care who 

received a gatekeeping assessment by a 

crisis resolution and home treatment 

team in line with best practice standards  

96.5% 95%  
 

5. People with a first episode of psychosis 

begin treatment with a NICE-

recommended package of care within 2 

weeks of referral 

 
61.9% 

50%  
 

6. Data Completeness, Mental  Health: 

identifiers – NHS Number, Date of Birth, 

Post Code, Gender, GP code, 

Commissioner code 

 

98.9% 

 

97% 
 

 

7. Data Completeness, Mental  Health: 

outcomes (for patients on CPA) – 

accommodation and employment 

status 

 

57.4% 

 

50% 
 

Table twelve: Core Indicators 

 
Indicators 1 and 2 are based on collated monthly internal Trust reporting, NHS Digital (formerly 
Health and Social Care Information Centre) will publish full year performance later in 2017/18.   
 
Performance, following a failure to meet 50% in Quarter 1, has been in excess of the target and 
the Trust’s recovery trajectory. For the rest of the financial year.   
 
The indicator percentage of CPA patients with a review in 12 months is not specified within the 
Single Oversight Framework. The Trust continues to monitor this internally through performance 
reviews.  
 
The indicator for Meeting commitment to serve new psychosis episodes by early intervention 
teams indicator has been replaced by the Early Intervention in Psychosis standard.  

 
Delayed Transfers of Care 
 
The indicator ‘minimising delayed transfers of care’ for mental health trusts is not included in the 
Single Oversight Framework but the indicator was selected for quality report assurance so 
therefore is included in the Quality Account; 4.8% of bed days were lost in 2016/17 due to 
delayed transfers of care. 

 

Patient safety incidents resulting in severe harm or death 

The Trust records all reported incidents on a database, in order to support the management of, 
monitoring and learning from all types of untoward incident. In addition patient safety incidents 
are uploaded to the National Reporting and Learning Service (NRLS) for further monitoring and 
inter-Trust comparisons. The NRLS system enables patient safety incident reports to be 
submitted to a national database which is designed to promote understanding and learning.  
 
The process of reporting Trust data to the NRLS and NRLS publication of national data is 
retrospective by nature. For the latest benchmarked data, SLaM reported: 
 

Page 50



31 

 

 

NRLS Data Q3-Q4 15/16 SLAM 
15/16 

Average 
for 

Mental 
Health 
Trusts 

Highest 
Trust % 

or 
Score 
15/16 

Lowest 
Trust % 

or 
Score 
15/16 

Reported Incidents per 1000 
bed days 

23.18 42.02 85.06 14.01 

Percentage of incidents 
resulting in severe harm 

0.3% 0.4% 2.3% 0.0% 

Percentage of incidents 
reported as deaths 

0.4% 1.0% 5.2% 0.1% 

 

NRLS Data Q1-Q2 16/17 SLAM 
16/17 

Average 
for 

Mental 
Health 
Trusts 

Highest 
Trust % 

or 
Score 
16/17 

Lowest 
Trust % 

or 
Score 
16/17 

Reported Incidents per 1000 
bed days 

22.05 46.02 88.97 10.28 

Percentage of incidents 
resulting in severe harm 

0.3% 0.4% 2.9% 0.0% 

Percentage of incidents 
reported as deaths 

0.4% 1.1% 10.0% 0.1% 

Table thirteen: NRLS (National Reporting and Learning Service) Data 

Duty of Candour 2016/2017 

Since April 2016, the following measures have been taken regarding duty of candour: 
 
1. A Learning Lessons Half Day event took place at the Ortus on 19.04.17 with over 40 

attendees. 
2. The PALs service has produced a video aimed at staff which gives advice on how and when 

to use the duty of candour. 
3. The Practical Guide to Structured Investigations training continues to provide education on 

how and when to use the duty of candour. 
4. The Patient Safety intranet website provides practical advice and duty of candour document 

templates for staff. 
5. The mandatory Datix (Trust Incident reporting system) fields for the recording of Duty of 

Candour were updated in March 2016 and continue to be used and monitored.  The entries 
regarding duty of candour on Datix have been used to inform a re-audit. 

6. A re-audit of the duty of candour was conducted and completed in April 2017.  Initial findings 
indicate that since the previous audit in July 2014, the following is to be noted: 

 
Positive points 
 

 Verbal, face to face and written communication with service users and family improved by 
37.5% from the previous audit to 82.5%. 

 Apologies are being offered more often for both sympathy and admission of responsibility.    

 Most cases do record asking the family if they had any questions for the investigation (80%). 

Page 51



32 

 

 

Areas for improvement 

 Minutes with the service user / family / carer were not recorded for the majority of pre-
investigation meetings and required items were not recorded. 

 17.2% of SI cases recorded an offer to meet the service user / carer / family and feedback 
the investigation, which appears to have slightly decreased from the previous audit. 
 

Governance and Assurance 

The Trust has robust operational and quality governance systems and processes in place to 

monitor the quality of care provided. 

The Trust Board receives assurance from the Quality Sub Committee (QSC) chaired by a Non-

Executive Director. The purpose is to: 

 Provide assurance to the Board of Directors on the delivery of the Trust’s Quality Strategy.  

 Examine where there have been failures in service or clinical quality and monitor progress 
against action plans to address them.  

 Ensure that there are processes in place to monitor quality effectively.  

 Identify risks related to service and clinical quality and provide assurance to the Board 
that the principal risks threatening quality are being managed appropriately at all levels 
within the Trust.  

 Consider issues escalated by the committees accountable to the Quality Sub-
Committee.    

 

  

Page 52



33 

 

Part 3: Review of quality performance 2016/2017 

Review of progress made against last year’s priorities 

Our 2016/2017 quality priorities were selected after consultations with stakeholders and staff 
from our services.  The following summarises progress made against each priority over the 
year.    

 
Priority One – Patient Safety: Reduce the use of restrictive interventions applied 
to service users          
 

Target Reduce any use of restraint that includes prone restraint by 
20%. 
Baseline: 220 in Q4/2017 

Measure Datix incidents in Q4/2016  

Headline This was not achieved. 

Datix incidents in Q4/2017 showed 240 restraints which 
included prone restraint.  

Overall, the number of restraints in the Trust have decreased by 
19.6%. However, the number of prone restraints have 
increased by 9.1% 

 

 

 

   Graph two: Restrictive Interventions 

In Quarter 4 2015/16, 31% of all reported restraints were prone. Although the overall number of 
restrictive interventions used has reduced, 42.1% of the reported restrained in Quarter 4 
2016/17 are prone. Positively, the overall data may suggest that in general, the management of 

220 240 200 191
240

709 646
569

510
570

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

15/16 Q4 16/17 Q1 16/17 Q2 16/17 Q3 16/17 Q4

Restrictive Interventions

Overall restraints

Prone restraints

Page 53



34 

 

violence and aggression has improved as well as reporting of restraint as per recommendation 
by the CQC following the comprehensive inspection in 2015 and the quality improvement work 
carried out as a result. 
 
The Trust internal audit on physical interventions in 2016 found that prone restraint was no 
longer the most common position used, compared to the findings of the audit completed in 
2012.  
 
A three year strategy to reduce restrictive interventions has been developed by the Trust and 
will be ratified in 2017. The strategy provides a framework for the reduction of restrictive 
interventions across all in-patient services in line with the DH Positive and Safe initiative (2014) 
and other relevant national guidance including NICE guideline NG10. The strategy delivery is 
monitored by the Trust Safe and Therapeutic Services Committee.  
 
As part of this strategy the trust is in the process of implementing a violence reduction 
programme called ‘Four Steps to Safety’ which is being delivered collaboratively with Devon 
Partnership NHS Trust and is sponsored by the Health Foundation.  
 
The Four Steps to Safety project is a system for safer care and uses a series of evidence based 
clinical interventions which are implemented using quality improvement methods. The project 
aims to reduce the levels of violence and aggression by 50% across all inpatient wards 
achieving better and safer care for the patients and better, safer working environment for the 
staff. An important part of the project is to enable clinical staff to embed a system of care which 
is proactive, rather than reactive. This work was designed and is delivered in partnership with 
people with lived experience of inpatient services. The programme is being delivered to 48 
inpatients wards across the trust and is due to be completed by September 2017. 

 

Priority Two – Patient Safety: Safer staffing 
 

Target To reduce the number of wards breaching agreed Trust minimum safe 
staffing levels by 30%.  
Baseline: 15 Wards 

Measure Safer staffing monthly returns – Safecare 

 

Headline We did not achieve this target 

Between April 2016 and March 2017, the average number of wards with 
staff breaches per month was 20.  

 
 

Page 54



35 

 

 

  Graph three: Safer Staffing Breaches June 2016 – March 2017 

Process and system improvements Recruitment and Retention 

The difficulty in recruiting nurses in the capital multi factorial, some of the factors are difficulties 
beyond local control such as the cost of living in London. We invest time in making advertising 
campaigns imaginative in order to raise our profile and attract staff. However, this is not 
enough to make our wards safe. Therefore, SLaM in partnership with London South Bank 
University, are training Assistant Practitioners an additional workforce to support nurses. 
 
Retaining our nurses requires a multifaceted approach, which includes listening to staff through 
staff surveys, enabling staff undertake professional development and making provisions for staff 

wellbeing.  
 
The Trust has worked hard to increase its presence across London and the country. We have 
attended RCN recruitment Fairs and hosted successful open days at the Bethlem, Kent, 
Maudsley and Lewisham. 

 
We have had a timetable of monthly assessment centres for Band 5 nurses where we have 
seen a month on month increase in attendance due to our advertising campaigns in the 
Metro/Evening Standard and local newspapers. 
 
We have also had a Learning Disability conference to showcase and celebrate the Trusts 
Learning Disability nurses. It was a widely promoted event. We invited university students and 
many were expressed an interest to work for the Trust once they qualified. 
 
Nationally, a scheme has been developed to create band 4 Nursing Associate roles, trained at 
Foundation degree level. Whilst the Trust watches this development with interest, as currently 
defined, these roles appear better suited for acute general Trusts than Mental Health 
organisations. 
 
Therefore, in partnership with the other two mental health Trusts who comprise the South 
London Partnership – Oxleas and South West London and St Georges, an agreement has been 
reached to take a common approach to the development of band 4 Assistant Practitioners (AP) 
staff to work in inpatient care areas.  

Page 55



36 

 

 
Assistant Practitioners will receive robust training with our partner University, London Southbank 
University (LSBU), including an initial two week course focusing on mental health practice and 
then complete a Foundation degree level course via day release for 18 months.  
 
The first cohort of 12 students from SLaM embarked on this course; the first two ‘step up’ weeks 
have been completed. 
 
The effect of changes in the workforce will be monitored by seeking service user and staff 
feedback, and monitoring indicators including complaints and compliments and incident data. 
 

Erostering: 

Ward managers regularly attend e –roster efficiency meetings; here they discuss the best 
practice methods in order to plan staff shifts six weeks in advance. This reduces the level of 
agency staff. The process and systems within erostering requires continual improvement 
including building capacity within the team to roll out the SafeCare system across the trust. 

 
Priority Three – Patient Safety: Risk Assessments 

 

Target 85% of service users in in-patient services and community service users 
under CPA will have a full risk assessment completed for each in-patient 
admission or CPA review.  
Baseline:78% 

Measure This will be measured through clinical audit in Q4/ 2017. 

Headline We achieved this target 

The audit sample taken from Q4 achieved 90.8% 

Inpatient services achieved 95.6% 

 
Community services achieved 85.7% 
 

 

Page 56



37 

 

 

  Graph four: Risk Assessment Scores 2015 – 2017 

Since 2015, the completion of risk assessments has increased by 26%.  
 
Over the summer of 2016 the trust undertook a comprehensive review and redesign of the ePJS 
which has helped to ensure the risk assessment process is streamlined, understood and 
standardised across all clinical services. Completion of risk assessments is audited on a 
monthly basis and escalated to CAG leadership on a quarterly basis as a governance 
monitoring structure. 
 
In January 2017, the new Risk Assessment tool went live on ePJS, replacing the previous Brief 
Risk Screen, Full Risk Screen and Risk Plan. In-patient services were given a 4 week transition 
period ending in March 2017, and community services were given a 20 week transition period 
which will end in June 2017.  
 
All clinical staff have to complete risk assessment training every three years as mandatory 
training and with the development of the new risk assessment template and a standardised 
audit tool, training is currently being roll out to all clinical staff in our inpatient settings to reflect 
this. 
 
To ensure we are identifying and mitigating against risks associated with individual patients all 
patients have a full risk assessment within four hours of admission. Risk assessments are 
reviewed weekly at ward rounds and clinical review meetings, or as required in the case of an 
event during the patient’s stay on the ward. Collaborative risk assessment and management 
has also been integrated into the inpatient group treatment programme. 
 
The 2017 internal audit found the new Risk Assessment Tool was already in use in 49.4% of the 
sample.  
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    
  

65%

78%

91%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2015 2016 2017

Risk Assessment Scores

Overall Score

Target

Page 57



38 

 

Priority Four – Clinical Effectiveness: Physical healthcare screening  
 

Target 90% of both in-patients service users and early intervention service users. 
50% of community service users on CPA audited will have had an 
assessment of each of the key cardio metabolic parameters; Smoking 
status; Lifestyle (including exercise, diet alcohol and drugs); Body Mass 
Index; Blood pressure; Glucose regulation and Blood lipids. They will be 
offered interventions based on need. 
 
Baseline:85.4% Inpatients; Community Zero baseline( new scope) 

Measure Audit for CQUIN submission in Q4/2017 
Baseline: Inpatients 85.4%, Community ( no baseline,- new priority) 

Headline We partially achieved this target.  

 

The audit sample taken from August/September Q2 patients achieved 

79.3%  

Inpatients 93%, EIP 77% and Community 68% 

 

 
In 2016/17, the CQUIN target for physical healthcare excluded Early Intervention service users 
from the sample. An internal audit was completed to include Inpatient, Early Intervention and 
Community patients.  
 

 
  Graph five: Physical Healthcare Screening 

Page 58



39 

 

The internal audit showed improvements in the completion of screening since the previous year 
and interventions offered. Whilst this is an area of continued focus we are proud of our 
achievements so far. 

 

Priority Five – Clinical Effectiveness; Care planning     
 

Target >89% of service users will state that they feel involved in their care. 

Measure This will be measured through the patients survey results in response to 
the question ‘Do you feel involved in your care?’ 
Baseline Figure: 89% 

Headline We achieved this target.  

 

89% of service users state that they feel involved in their care (n=10,628) 

(89.08% to 2dp). 

  

 

The Trust will maintain and improve on this target by co-producing a consensus statement for 

involvement in own care and taking forward a programme plan to deliver on the Trust’s Patient 

and Public Involvement Strategy. 

 

Priority Six – Clinical Effectiveness; Developing electronic systems to improve 
the delivery of care 
 

Target 50% of inpatient teams to embed electronic observations in practice 
(eOBS); technology to enable paper free patient observations. 
Baseline: 0 Wards. 

Measure No. of wards using eOBS 

Headline We did not achieve this target 

2 wards are using eOBS (Johnson and ES2).  

AL1 has completed training and is ready to start using the new system.  

6 more wards are being trained and will be prepared to start 

implementation in May 2017. 

 
Technical Development  

The developers are working towards fully replacing the physical health chart currently being 
used trust wide to record physical health observations, Modified Early Warning Score (MEWS, 
with a digital tool. 

They have alongside this work, been making some improvements to some of the functionalities 
on the system being piloted on Eileen Skellern 2 (ES2) and Johnson Psychiatric Intensive Care 

Page 59



40 

 

Unit (PICU). The latest release in March, saw some useful additions to the system that both 
improve its  user friendliness  as well as the effectiveness in improving the process of recording 
and accessing meaningful data and alerts that contribute to timely clinical decision making.  The 
full replacement of the paper chart has been delayed by the findings of the pilot and the need to 
address technical issues. earlier projection. 

Wards implementing eOBS: 

ES2 and Johnson PICU wards are no longer considered to be pilots wards as eOBS is now fully 
established into the ward routine and the system is used regularly to carry out physical health 
observations. Both wards played a significant role in influencing the changes and further 
developments in the system since the pilot started almost a year ago.  

The data available supports the operators feedback that latest upgrade to the software has 
significantly improved the system usability, this data will continue to be monitored and acted 
upon.  No adverse events or system failures have been reported since both wards started using 
the electronic system, and neither ward have had to resort to using paper records.  

 

 Graphs six and seven: Trends electronic physical health observations in pilot wards 

Integrating QI methodology with the roll-out of eOBS. 

Page 60



41 

 

Aubrey Lewis 1 (AL1), older adults unit is the first ward to be trained to use QI methodology in 
its implementation of eOBS. The ward manager and a nominated champion had the three days 
QI training from the Institute of Healthcare Improvement (IHI) followed by training for the whole 
team on e-Observation and the new physical health tool, NEWS. The ward is also allocated 
additional support from the QI team to guide them through the process of setting up their 
PDSAs and measures to monitor improvement.   AL1 is now ready to go live once IT support is 
in place. The learning from their implementation of eOBS using QI methodology will be useful 
for the roll-out to the rest of the trust. 

Trust Roll-Out  

The Ladywell site in Lewisham is half-way through the training and preparation for eOBS 
implementation. It is anticipated that up to 80% of staff in each ward will be trained by the 28th 
April before implementation can go ahead. Subject to the progress of the software development, 
implementation will start from the first week of May 2017. 

Phase two of eOBS  

The second phase of eOBS will be focused on developing the mental health observation tools 
and the enhancement of the task management functionalities on the system. 

This is expected to start from June while the physical health aspect is being rolled out. 

Priority Seven – Patient Experience; Reducing the number of Acute out of area 
treatments 
 

Target A 40% reduction in the number of adult patients admitted to external 
providers (overspill). 
Baseline Figure: Yearly average of 46.1 

Measure This will be measured in monthly performance meetings and data 
extracted. Complaints data will also be monitored. 

Headline We did not achieve this target.  
 
Average number of admissions/ transfers to private overspill beds: 
2015/16 – 46.1 
2016/17 – 40.7 
 
There has been an improvement in the last year, but only a 13.3% 
reduction. 

 

Whilst this target was not met, a significant amount of work was carried out to improve the 
patient experience in this area. . The Acute CAG came into existence on 1 July 2016. The remit 
of the CAG is to provide 24/7 adult acute care across inpatients and home treatment teams. 

 
 In November 2016 the Acute care CAG published its two year plan. Over the last six months 
the acute and PICU wards across the four hospital sites have been looked at in terms of 
admission rates, length of stay, number of beds, nurse staffing ratios and multidisciplinary input, 
with a view to developing a two year plan to standardise our offer to people who use in patient 
services. A new Acute Referral Centre (ARC) has been formed to create a single administrative 

Page 61



42 

 

point for acute admissions. The service operates 24 hours a day, 7 days a week for 365 days 
per year. ARC staffing consists of a clinical service lead, a crisis line practitioner, home 
treatment clinicians and a patient flow co-ordinator. The purpose of the Acute Referral Centre is 
to ensure that referrals for patients requiring a crisis or acute response are directed swiftly and 
offered the most appropriate intervention without delay. 
 
Ensuring the most appropriate treatment without delay for all will enhance quality and 
effectiveness. This is a key strategy to reduce reliance on out of area (overspill) beds. 
 

 2015/16 2016/17 

Average for the 
year (external plus 

McKenzie) 
46.1 40.7 

  Table fourteen: Overspill averages 2015 to 2017 

The Trust intends to reduce the average length of stay from 45 days to 40 days, which in turn 
will contribute to preventing external overspill. 
 
Throughout 2017/18, through a series of quality improvement projects we aim to further reduce 
the average length of stay to 35 days. 
 
Getting the average length of stay to 35 days and creating four acute wards for each borough 
(as well as the PICU provision and the early intervention ward) will allow the wards to run at 
85%, with a target four hour wait time for admission. 
 
In 2018/19 we plan to further decrease the length of stay to 30 days. Once this is achieved the 
CAG executive believe that this will be a good time to further review the skill mix of staff on the 
wards. 
     

Priority Eight – Patient Experience; Carer’s assessments and associated care plan 
 

Target >50% of identified carers will have been offered a carers’ assessment 
and a carer’s care plan.  
Baseline Figure: 32% 

Measure This will be measured through internal audit. 

Headline We did not achieved this target.  
 
The internal audit achieved 43.4% 
 
43.4% of identified carers were offered a carers’ assessment. 
 

 

Page 62



43 

 

 
                         Graph eight: Carer Assessment Scores 2015-2017 

The previous audit undertaken in 2016 showed performance in offering carers’ assessments was 
32% and an action plan was sought to address this poor performance and achieve a target of 
50% by April 2017.  

 
A key challenge of this work has been to design an assessment tool which was tailored for the 
needs of mental health carers but also complied with the Care Act and was able to be 
developed on the ePJS system. Following involvement from carers and staff, a ‘carers’ 
engagement and support plan’ was developed on ePJS and went live at the end of November 
2016 and the old forms were removed. This tool enables staff to assess the presenting needs of 
the carer, offer advice, information and support and share the support plan with the carer. The 
tool has links to the four borough local authority forms and guidance on how to access a formal 
carers’ assessment under the Care Act if one is indicated. Staff feedback on the forms has also 
been encouraged and received and will be used to make further design improvements. 
 
In order to have local leadership and ownership of carers’ assessments, each CAG nominated a 
carers’ lead to help to develop the tool and to champion carers’ assessments in the CAGs to 
facilitate an improvement in performance. The initial launch of the forms was, in general, 
positively received by staff and since the end of November 2016, approximately 300 carers’ 
engagement and support plans have been completed.  
 
However, the current Trust-wide position of patients on CPA with an identified carer offered a 
carers’ assessment is 42.5%. 6.3% of the assessments completed used the new form. Carers’ 
assessments and care planning will continue to be a quality priority in 2017/18, and further work 
will be completed to promote the use of the new Carers’ engagement and support form.  
 

 
 
 
 
 

32.0%

43.4%

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

2015/16 2016/17

Carers Assessment Scores

Overall Score

Target

Page 63



44 

 

Priority Nine – Patient Experience – Quality of environments and food within in-
patient services  

 

Target Patient Led Assessments of Care Environments (PLACE) and Food 
audit scores will achieve overall > 89.95%. 
Baseline 89.95% (food) 

Measure PLACE audit reports and hotel services Spot Light reports will be 
monitored and reviewed. 

Headline We achieved this target.  
 
The Trust scored 95% overall for the PLACE audits.  
 
The food audit score was lower than the previous year and equal to 
the national average (88.07%). However, all other audit scores were 
higher than the national average.  
 

 

 

Cleanliness Food 

Condition, 
Appearance 

& 
Maintenance 

Trust Score 2016 99.26% 88.07% 97.84% 

National Average 
2016 

98.06% 88.07% 93.37% 

% above National 
Average 

1.20% 0.00% 4.47% 

  Table fifteen: PLACE audit scores 2016 

We involved our service users in assessing the quality of our care environment as part of the 
PLACE inspection between February and June 2016. 
 
A team made up of service users, staff and an external assessor from another trust inspected 
40 of our wards. 
 
We have exceeded national averages in every PLACE assessment area except ‘food’, and are 
taking action to address this. Having changed menus, we currently maintain the national 
average for food. We are looking to improve this by refining our current catering and domestic 
food contracts and moving to fully cooked fresh food in Spring 2017. 
 
The patient environment and the settings in which we deliver our clinical services is a clear 
factor in good healthcare delivery. Through PLACE assessments we demonstrate a clear 
commitment to delivering a well maintained, clean and safe environment for everyone who uses 
our services. 

 
 
 

Page 64



45 

 

National patient survey of people who use community mental health services: SLaM report 
2016 
 
The National Patient Survey was returned by 206 SLaM patients giving a response rate of 26%; 
this is slightly lower than the national average response rate of 28% for all mental health trusts. 
SLaM performed ‘about the same’ as all other trusts nationally for every question in the 2016 
survey of people who use community mental health services and therefore ‘about the same for 
each separate survey section. 
 
SLaM’s highest three performing questions are as follows: 
 
Section 2: Organising care 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Section 7: Treatments 

 
 
 
 

 
Graph nine: SLAM’s patient survey highest three performing questions 

The three questions where the Trust had the greatest increase in performance in 2016 
compared to 2015 are providing help or advice with finding support for finding or keeping work 
(+11.2%), knowing who to contact out of office hours if you have a crisis (+10.1%) and being 
involved as much as the service user wanted to be in discussing how their care is working 
(+4.6%). 

 
To build further on these improvements the Trust has reviewed the approach to Patient and 
Public Involvement (PPI). The PPI policy was endorsed by the board in December 2016. The 
policy sets out a governance structure for involvement by people who use services and their 
friends, families and carers at all levels of the organisation to ensure a consistent approach 
across all parts of the organisation.  

A new Involvement Oversight Group with Non-Executive Directors, service user and carer 
governors as well as staff attending has been set up to ensure that the policy is implemented 
and adhered to thereby improving the quality of services we provide. This group reports to the 
Quality Sub Committee   

We are proud that we increased the number of respondents to FFT and other service user 

questionnaires by 50% since 2014/2015. 

Page 65



46 

 

National Staff Survey 2016 – Results 
 
1832 staff at South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust took part in this survey. This is 
a response rate of 40% which is below average for mental health/ learning disability trusts in 
England, and compares with a response rate of 38% in this trust in the 2015 survey.  
 

Number of Staff recommending the Trust  
In the 2016 survey, SLAM performed slightly lower to the year before on the question ‘would 
staff recommend the trust as a place to work or receive treatment?’. SLaM performed slightly 
above the national average on this question. The SLAM Trust score for this question was 3.67 
compared to the national average score of 3.62 for other mental health trusts.  

 
Table sixteen: National staff survey results  
 

 
Graph ten: National staff survey results – key finding 1 

 
Overall Staff Engagement 
 
The Trust score for overall staff engagement has gone down marginally to 3.80 (3.81 in 2015). 
This is higher than the national average for all mental health/learning disability Trusts which was 

3.77. 
 

Page 66



47 

 

 
Graph eleven: National staff survey results – overall staff engagement 

 
Key Findings – overall Trust 
 
The following are the top five ranking scores for the Trust compared to Mental Health Trusts in 
England: 
 

 Percentage of staff appraised in last 12 months. 
Trust Score: 93%  National Average: 89% 

 

 Effective use of patient/ service user feedback (scale summary score). 
Trust Score: 3.82  National Average: 3.70 

 

 Percentage of staff/ colleagues reporting most recent experience of violence 
Trust Score: 95%  National Average: 93% 

 

 Percentage of staff able to contribute towards improvement at work 
Trust Score: 76%  National Average: 73% 

 

 Percentage of staff attending work in the last 3 months despite feeling unwell because they 
felt pressure from their manager, colleagues or themselves (the lower the score the better) 
Trust Score: 53%  National Average: 55% 

 
The following are the lowest five ranking scores for the Trust compared to Mental Trusts in 
England: 
 

 Percentage of staff satisfied with the opportunities for flexible working patterns 
Trust Score: 51%  National Average: 59% 

 

 Percentage of staff experiencing discrimination at work in the last 12 months 
Trust Score: 20%  National Average: 14% 

 

 Organisation and management interest in and action on health and wellbeing (Scale 
summary score) 
Trust Score: 3.56  National Average: 3.71 

 

 Percentage of staff believing that the organisation provides equal opportunities for career 
progression or promotion 
Trust Score: 78%  National Average: 87% 

 

Page 67



48 

 

 Percentage of staff reporting good communication between senior management and staff 
Trust Score: 30%  National Average: 35% 

 
The following is the area where the experience of staff has improved on the previous annual 
survey: 
 

 Percentage of staff working extra hours (the lower the score the better) 
Trust Score 2016: 76%  Trust Score 2014: 81% 

 

 Percentage of staff experience physical violence from staff in last 12 months (the lower the 
score the better) 
Trust Score 2015: 3%  Trust Score 2014: 5% 

 
The following is the area where the experience of staff has deteriorated most on the previous 
annual survey: 
 

 Percentage of staff appraised in last 12 months 
Trust Score 2016: 93%   Trust Score 2015: 96% 

 
Workforce Race Equality Standard 
 

 Percentage of staff experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse from staff in last 12 months 
White   Trust Score 2016: 24% Trust Score: 2015: 23% 

BME  Trust Score 2016: 27% Trust Score 32% 

Over the past year following on from the previous Staff Survey we have been actively engaging 
with and supporting the development of the new BME network. This has included the 
development of a “Tackling Snowy White Peaks” Working group following on from a network 
event where Roger Kline presented his findings on his research into Snowy White Peaks in the 
NHS.  

The group has been looking at particular issues and themes and have developed a “Reflect and 
Review” checklist to be used before any formal investigation is undertaken. This will enable 
managers to take a step back and look at whether there are better alternatives than formal 
action.  

A review of disciplinary investigation outcomes has been conducted on those staff involved in a 
formal disciplinary process and from a Black African background as there were are a greater 
proportion going through formal disciplinary processes. It is recognised that the Reflect and 
Review checklist may assist in ensuring that staff are only taken through a formal process 
where there is no alternative. 

We are presently scoping the implementation of a programme of inclusive leadership which 
helps organisations think about the impact and implications of unconscious bias. It is intended 
that we may be in a position to conducting a trial or pilot later in the year. 

In the previous Staff Survey report it was highlighted that the Trust was is in the worst 20% in 
terms of the percentage of staff who experience physical violence from other staff. In September 
2016 the Chief Executive wrote an open letter to all staff reminding them of the need to report 
any incidents of unacceptable behaviour from other staff and to use the mechanisms already 
available to escalate any matters. It is positive to see a reduction in these reported in the 2016 

Page 68



49 

 

survey which is also identified as one of the most improved areas but there is still further work to 
do to make this zero. 

At a local level, each CAG and Directorate will again be asked to develop an Action Plan in 
relation to the responses in the staff survey. This should be based on the requirements 
identified within the report for their specific areas as some CAGs may need to develop and 
improve approaches to particular themes. There will need to be regular updates on progress 
through the CAG HR Business Partners. It is important that local issues are identified and staff 
are given the opportunity to work towards their resolution and for the CAGs to reassure their 
staff that they have heard the feedback and are addressing it. 

We need to ensure we maintain our areas where we have scored in the top 20% of mental 
health and learning disability Trusts.  

We will need to continue to reinforce the importance of the new annual performance review 
(appraisal) process which commenced in 2015. We have updated the ratings guide and 
redesigned the recording form. The performance review process allows an open dialogue about 
what is good and what needs to improve.  

We have seen a reduction in the overall percentage appraisal scores which is a little 
disappointing and although the score is higher than the national average and a good 
achievement we need to strive to ensure this is better than the 96% in the previous year over 
the forthcoming year. We have introduced a new learning development system which will also 
provide the platform to record and report on appraisals over the forthcoming year.  

Freedom to Speak up Guardian  
 
The Trust has appointed a Freedom to Speak Up Guardian. A Steering Group has been 
established to oversee a body of work which includes a refreshed promotion and cultural 
change programme. This follows the visit of the National Guardian on 17th March 2017. There 
are a number of Ambassadors and Advocates and the aim is to increase the visibility and 
encourage everyone in the Trust to see ‘Speaking Up and Being Heard’ as business as usual. 
Two reports have been made to the Board and the third is scheduled for June 2017.   
 
SLaM Equality Information and Objectives  
 
The Trust published its annual equality information in January 2016. This includes 2016 Trust-
wide equality information that provides information on the demographic profile of the Trust’s 
service users and the experience of service users with different protected characteristics.  
We also continue to publish local ethnicity reports for Croydon, Lambeth, Lewisham and 
Southwark. These provide information on the ethnicity of service users accessing 11 of the 
Trust’s services and the experience of service users of different ethnicities in each borough. 

The Trust has developed new CAG equality objectives for 2017-20. A high-level summary of 
these is provided below: 

 Acute Care CAG: To improve access and experiences for service users with learning 
disabilities in acute wards. 

 Addictions CAG: To improve access to substance misuse services in Wandsworth for men 
who have sex with men. 

Page 69

http://slam.nhs.uk/media/458918/2016%20Trust-wide%20equality%20information.pdf
http://slam.nhs.uk/media/458918/2016%20Trust-wide%20equality%20information.pdf
http://slam.nhs.uk/media/458938/2016%20Croydon%20Ethnicity%20Information.pdf
http://slam.nhs.uk/media/458933/2016%20Lambeth%20Ethnicity%20Information.pdf
http://slam.nhs.uk/media/458943/2016%20Lewisham%20Ethnicity%20Information.pdf
http://slam.nhs.uk/media/458923/2016%20Southwark%20Ethnicity%20Information.pdf


50 

 

 Behavioural and Developmental Psychiatry CAG: To improve the physical health of 
Black and Minority Ethnic service users in forensic inpatient services. 

 Child and Adolescent Mental Health CAG: To improve access and experiences for Asian 
and Black girls in CAMHS community services. 

 Mental Health of Older Adults and Dementia CAG: To achieve earlier access to memory 
services in Lambeth and Southwark for Black service users. 

 Psychological Medicine and Integrated Care CAG: To improve access and outcomes for 
Black service users in Lewisham Improving Access to Talking Therapies [IAPT] service. 

 Psychosis CAG: To ensure equitable access to early intervention services for people aged 
35 and over. 

  

Page 70



51 

 

 

Glossary 
Acute Out of Area 
Treatments (OATs) 

An Acute Out of Area admission is when a service user is admitted to an Acute 
inpatient ward which is located outside of the funding CCG’s (See Clinical 
Commissioning Group entry) area. 

Adult Mental Health Model 
(AMH) 

The Adult Mental Health Model (AMH) is a the model used within SLaM to treat 
people with mental illness, the model focusses on preventing illness and taking a 
holistic approach to treatment i.e. physical, social and mental health care. 

Biomedical Research 
Centre (BRC) 

The Biomedical Research Centre (BRC) is a research centre formed by the National 
Institute for Health Research (NIHR) (see National Institute for Health Research 
entry). The Maudsley BRC is in partnership with SLaM, the Institute of Psychiatry, 
Psychology and Neuroscience at King’s College London. The BRC has a number of 
research themes including Bioinformatics and statistics. 

Care Programme Approach 
(CPA) 

The Care Programme Approach (CPA) is a type of support that a person might 
receive or be offered if they have mental health problems or complex needs. The 
Care Programme Approach is inclusive of: an assessment of needs, a care plan, 
regular review of your needs and the care plan and a Care Co-ordinator. 

Care Quality Commission 
(CQC) 

The Care Quality Commission (CQC) is a health and adult social care regulator in 
England. The CQC inspects services based on five Key Lines of Enquiry, these are: 
safety, effectiveness, caring, responsiveness and well-led.  

CareCERTassure Cyber security programme led by NHS Digital to improve cyber defences in line with 
Cyber Essentials Plus scheme. SLaM is an early adopter. 

Chief Clinical Information 
Officer (CCIO) 

Deputy Medical Director for Information 

Clinical Academic Group 
(CAG) 

SLaM is divided into “Clinical Academic Groups”. Services fall into particular CAGs 
depending on who they treat and what treatment they provide. The Trust’s CAGs 
are as follows: 
Acute: provides care to people who experience a mental health crisis and need to 
be home treated or on occasion admitted to hospital.  
Addictions: provides community services to adults with drug and alcohol disorders. 
Behavioural and Developmental Psychiatry (BPAD): Provides Forensic and 
neurodevelopmental services to adults. 
Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS): Provides a range of mental 
health services for children and young people. 
Mental Health for Older Adults (MHOA): Provides services to those either: over the 
age of 65 with dementia or severe and complex mental health needs or under the 
age of 65 who develop dementia 
Psychological Medicine and Integrated Care (Psych Med): Provides clinical care 
across mental and physical health through the General Hospital Liaison services 
with four acute hospitals. Psych Med also provides specialist services i.e. Mother 
and Baby, Eating Disorders Service, Chronic Fatigue, Neuropsychiatry, and 
Psychosexual Conditions. 
Psychosis: Provides early intervention services, acute inpatient services, community 
services promoting recovery, and a range of rehabilitation services as well as two 
national specialist services. 

Clinical Commissioning 
Groups 
(CCG)/Commissioner 

A Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG) (also known as Commissioners) “are 
clinically-led statutory NHS bodies responsible for the planning and commissioning 
of health care services for their local area.” (About CCGs, NHS Clinical 
Commissioners). SLaM is commissioned by Croydon, Lambeth, Lewisham and 
Southwark CCG. 

Control Objectives for 
Information and Related 
Technologies (CoBIT)  

IT governance and management framework which covers risk management, 
assurance and audit, data security, governance and governance 

Page 71



52 

 

Commissioning for Quality 
and Innovation (CQUIN) 

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) is a payment framework 
whereby quality improvement goals are linked to financial reward. 

Datix Datix is the incident reporting system which SLaM uses for the recording of 
incidents and complaints. 

Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards (DoLS)  

The Mental Capacity Act allows restraint and restrictions to be used – but only if 
they are in a person's best interests. Extra safeguards are needed if the restrictions 
and restraint used will deprive a person of their liberty. These are called the 
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards. 

Electronic Observation 
Solution (eOBS) 

Electronic Observations Solution is the digitalisation of patient observations (vital 
signs) also known as early warning signs (MEWS) as opposed to the use of paper 
MEWS Charts. 

Electronic Patient Journey 
System (ePJS) 

ePJS is the electronic system that SLaM uses to document patient notes. 

Health and Social Care 
Information Centre (HSCIC) 

The Health and Social Care Information Centre (HSCIC) is a public body which 
produces national data for health and social care with the aim of improving care. 
The HSCIC is sponsored by the Department of Health. 

Health Service Journal (HSJ) The Health Service Journal (HSJ) is a website and serial publication which covers 
topics relating to the National Health Service and Healthcare. 

Healthcare Quality 
Improvement Partnership 
(HQIP) 

The Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership (HQIP) is an independent 
organisation which aims to promote quality in healthcare and increase the impact 
of clinical audit (see Audit entry). HQIP is led by the Academy of Medical Royal 
Colleges (see Academy of Medical Royal Colleges entry), The Royal College of 
Nursing (see Royal College of Nursing entry) and National Voices (see National 
Voices entry).  

Hospital Episode Statistics 
(HES) 

Hospital Episode Statistics is a data repository  held by the Health and Social Care 
Information Centre (see Health and Social Care Information Centre entry) which 
stores information on hospital episodes i.e. admissions for all NHS trusts in England. 

Local Care Record (LCR) An secure integrated portal between SLaM, GSTT, KCH and 90+ GP practices in 
Southwark and Lambeth electronic health records, which provides instant real-time 
access to health records to care professionals during direct care. 

Mental Capacity Act (MCA) The Mental Capacity Act (MCA) is designed to protect and empower individuals who 
may lack the mental capacity to make their own decisions about their care and 
treatment. It is a law that applies to individuals aged 16 and over. 

Mental Health Services 
Data Set (MHSDS) 

The Mental Health Services Data Set (MHSDS) is a data set held by the Health and 
Social Care Information Centre (see Health and Social Care Information Centre 
entry) which contains care data relating to the people who use mental health 
services. It is mandatory for NHS Trusts to submit data to the MHSDS. 

National Confidential 
Inquiry into Suicide and 
Homicide by People with 
Mental Illness (NCISH) 

NCISH is a National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Homicide by People with 
Mental Illness which collected suicide data in the UK from 2003-2013 (The National 
Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Homicide by People with Mental Illness Annual 
Report 2015: England, Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales July 2015. University of 
Manchester). It is commissioned by the Healthcare Quality Improvement 
Partnership (see Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership entry). 

National Health Service 
England (NHSE) 

National Health Service England (NHSE) is a body of the Department of Health (see 
Department of Health entry) which leads and commissions NHS services in England. 

National Institute for 
Health Research (NIHR) 

The National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) is the body which oversees 
research in the NHS. 

National Reporting and 
Learning Service (NRLS) 

The National Reporting and Learning Service (NRLS) is a system which enables 
patient safety incident reports to be submitted to a national database which is 
designed to promote understanding and learning.  

Quality Sub Committee 
(QSC) 

The Quality Sub Committee is the Committee within SLaM which is responsible for 
the monitoring of serious incidents and complaints, clinical governance. Other Trust 
Committees such report to the Quality Sub Committee. 

Patient Led Assessment of Patient Led Assessment of Care Environment (PLACE) assessments are annual 

Page 72



53 

 

Care Environment (PLACE) assessments of hospital environments which evaluate:  cleanliness, food and 
hydration, privacy, dignity and wellbeing, condition, appearance and maintenance 
and dementia. 

Prescribing Observatory for 
Mental Health -UK (POMH-
UK Audits) 

The Prescribing Observatory for Mental Health UK audits are National Clinical Audits 
(see National Clinical Audit entry) which assess the practice of prescribing 
medications within mental health services in the United Kingdom. 

Safecare (HealthRoster)/E-
roster 

Safecare HealthRoster also known within SLaM as e-roster is the e-rostering system 
designed by Allocate Software (see Allocate Software entry) and used within SLaM 
to complete shift rostering and record sickness, absence and competencies for all 
staff. 

 

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1. Purpose 

 

1.1 This report provides members of the Heathier Communities Select Committee with an 

update on the development of Neighbourhood Care Networks (NCNs) in Lewisham.  

Lewisham’s Neighbourhood Care Networks cover two key elements: 

 

 A local care network of health and care providers as envisioned in the 

Sustainability and Transformation Plan for south east London linked to; 

 A network of voluntary and community sector organisations. 

 

2. Recommendations 

 

2.1 Members of the Healthier Communities Select Committee are invited to note the current 

position and the planned next steps for the development of neighbourhood care networks 

in Lewisham.  

 

3. Strategic Context 

 

3.1 The development of Neighbourhood Care Networks is a key strand of the work taking 

place to build a viable and sustainable health and care system for Lewisham.  

 

3.2 Their development also reflects the strategic direction articulated in: 

 

o The NHS Five Year Forward View (October 2014) and the Next Steps 

Document (March 2017) which set out a shared vision and priorities for the 

future of the NHS. 

 

o The planning guidance published on 22 December 2015 which set out the 

requirement for the NHS to produce five year Sustainability and Transformation 

Plans (STP).  These are place based, whole system plans driving the Five Year 

Forward View locally. 

 

o Our Healthier South East London, the STP for South East London published in 

November 2016. It encourages health and care partners to form local care 

networks to deliver more joined up health and care services in the community.   

 

o The development of neighbourhood care networks also contributes to the 

delivery of the priorities outlined out in the Lewisham’s Children & Young 

Healthier Communities Select Committee 
 

Report Title 
 

Developing Lewisham’s Neighbourhood Care Networks  

Contributors 
 

Whole System Model of Care Programme Lead 
and Head of Cultural and Community 
Developments  

Item No. 5 

Class 
 

Part 1   Date:  13 June 2017 

Page 75

Agenda Item 5



 

People’s Plan (CYPP).  The plan sets out the vision for improving outcomes for 

all children and young people, including the priority outcome of being healthy 

and active,  and delivered through the Children’s and Young People’s Strategic 

Partnership Board.  

 

o Neighbourhood Care Networks also contribute to the priority outcome in 

Shaping our Future – Lewisham’s Sustainable Community Strategy – which 

states that communities in Lewisham should be Healthy, active and enjoyable 

and where people can actively participate in maintaining and improving their 

health. 

 

4. Local Context  

 

4.1 Lewisham’s Health and Care Partners (LHCP)1 are working to deliver a sustainable health 

and care system that will better support people: 

 

• to maintain and improve their physical and mental wellbeing 

• to live independent and fulfilled lives 

• to access high quality care when needed. 

 

4.2 Lewisham’s Neighbourhood Care Networks (see the diagram at Annex A) bring together 

local care networks (delivered by Lewisham’s health and care partners) and the networks 

of voluntary and community sector organisations within the same model.  

 

4.3 As envisaged within Our Healthier South East London, LHCP are developing a local care 

network in each neighbourhood to transform the way in which community based care is 

delivered. Local care networks will deliver support and care which is: 

 Proactive and Preventative – By creating an environment which promotes health 

and wellbeing, making it easy for people to find the information and advice they 

need and the activities, opportunities and support available, to maintain their 

health and wellbeing and to manage their own health and care more effectively.   

Accessible to all – so that adults have improved access to local health and care 

services, and so that children have increased access to community health services 

and early intervention support.  And for everyone to have clear access to urgent 

care when needed;  

Co-ordinated – so that people receive personalised care and support, closer to 

home, which integrates physical and mental health and care services, to help them 

to live independently for as long as possible. 

4.4 Alongside the local care networks sit the other key element of Lewisham’s Neighbourhood 

Care Networks, the voluntary and community sector.  Lewisham’s well-established 

voluntary and community sector has a major role in building strong and resilient 

communities and in supporting residents’ health and wellbeing. Bringing together 

                                                           
1 Lewisham Health and Care Partners are Lewisham Council, Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group, Lewisham and 

Greenwich NHS Trust, South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust, One Health Lewisham (GP Federation) 

Page 76



 

membership from across the sector, the Stronger Communities Partnership Board is co-

ordinating and supporting community development across the borough and helping 

people connect with opportunities, activities and support available locally to maintain and 

improve their health and wellbeing. Four Neighbourhood Community Development 

Partnerships, one in each neighbourhood, have been established to interact with health 

and care partners (see section 6.1b).   

    
4.5 Lewisham will continue to strengthen and develop connections both within and across its 

local care networks and build stronger links within and across the voluntary and 

community sector, through the neighbourhood community development partnerships.   

 

5. Neighbourhood Care Networks - Activity to date 

  

5.1 Although some services may be networked on a borough wide level where it is appropriate 

to do so, a range of health and care services have been organised on a neighbourhood 

footprint to create four ‘local care networks’ based around GP registered lists in the 

following geographical areas: (1) North Lewisham (2) Central Lewisham 

(3) South East Lewisham and (4) South West Lewisham. By operating at this smaller 

scale, local care networks can more easily develop local connections between services, 

co-ordinate care and strengthen relationships between professionals.  A map of the 

current neighbourhood areas by GP and ward is shown at Annex B.   

 

5.2 A number of tools, services and partnerships have been developed to improve the co-

ordination of care and support and strengthen connections across each local health and 

care network. These include:  

 
- Neighbourhood Community Teams (NCTs) These virtual teams bring together 

district nurses, social work staff and therapists (also see Multi-disciplinary Meetings 

below).  

- Multi-disciplinary Meetings bring together members of the Neighbourhood 

Community Teams with other health and care professionals such as GPs and 

Mental Health workers to plan and arrange holistic coordinated care for patients and 

service users with complex needs.  Guidance to support professionals attending 

these meetings has been produced.  

- Neighbourhood Co-ordinators support health and care staff within each 

neighbourhood to improve multi-disciplinary working and facilitate effective liaison 

between health and care providers across Lewisham for patients and services users 

with complex needs.  In 2016-17, the team received 1252 requests for support. A 

review of the role has identified the following key impacts: freeing up clinical time by 

supporting referrals and information sharing; more effective signposting and 

improved communication between professionals. 

- Lewisham’s Single Point of Access has a team of advisers who can support 

residents requiring general health and care information and advice.  On average 

3000 phone calls per month are received for community nursing and 2000 per 

month for social care.    

5.3 The voluntary and community sector continues to support and work alongside Lewisham’s 

health and care partners to improve and maintain people’s health and wellbeing.  A 

Page 77



 

number of tools, services and partnerships have been developed to strengthen 

connections with the voluntary sector and to link people to advice, care and support 

available locally: 

- Lewisham SAIL Connections is a quick and simple referral service. It connects 

vulnerable people aged 60+ with local services that support them in maintaining 

their independence, safety and wellbeing. Anyone can make a SAIL referral by 

answering the yes/no questions on a simple checklist.   

- Community Connections is a local health and wellbeing project delivered by Age 

UK Lewisham and Southwark in conjunction with a consortium of voluntary sector 

partners in Lewisham.  

- Community Support Facilitators work with individuals to improve their wellbeing 

by helping the individual to engage with local activities, opportunities and services.  

- As part of the project, Community Development Workers also support 

organisations and groups to build and develop local resources, promote partnership 

working and support the development of networks between voluntary and 

community organisations.    

5.4    The neighbourhood care network model is also being applied to existing services that 

work with children and young people and being further developed through the re-

commissioning and re-design of children’s centres and health visitor services.  Using this 

model, the delivery of midwifery, children’s centres and health visiting will be integrated and 

will form part of the neighbourhood care network for children. It will also bring together the 

sources of information on services and advice for children and young people into one single 

point.  There may be additional specific services to support children and young people that 

should be included and work is underway through the children’s joint commissioning team to 

identify these.  

6. Neighbourhood Care Networks – next steps  

 

6.1 Partners across Lewisham are now focused on: 

 Strengthening the local care network of professionals delivering care and support  

 Strengthening the network of voluntary and community sector organisations  

 Strengthening the relationships between the statutory and voluntary sectors 

 

(a) Strengthening the network of professionals delivering care and support  

 

- LHCP are exploring how governance and partnership arrangements between 

the statutory partners might be strengthened to enable joint decision making and 

joint accountability for the delivery of community based care.  

- Across the borough, LHCP are aiming to create neighbourhood hub premises to 

accommodate a range of community based services.  These hubs will provide fit-

for-purpose, flexible, adaptable and accessible premises for the delivery of health 

and care and, by bringing services together, support networking across the system.  

This includes clarifying any services for children and young people delivered in the 

hubs and ensuring clear links with the children’s centre and health visiting 

neighbourhood model. 

Page 78



 

- LCHP has committed to co-locating the multi-disciplinary Neighbourhood 

Community Teams. N1 will be the first team to co-locate at the Waldron Health 

Centre in summer 2017.  

- A number of pilot projects are in development to test out ways in which the 

Neighbourhood Co-ordinator role could develop. These include increased support 

at the SPA, hospital discharge and new approaches to multi-disciplinary working. 

- The functionality of the existing health and social care website and the directory 

of services will be improved.  The website has currently been refreshed.  We also 

plan to extend the reach of the website to offer bespoke information and advice to 

those who use it. In addition, information for children and young people will be 

brought together into a single source.  

- Across each neighbourhood, we will continue to find ways to raise awareness of the 

support, opportunities and activity available locally, and to improve the mechanisms 

for referrals between different parts of the network.  

- Across the health and care system, work will continue to look at how individual 

services and pathways could be better aligned or integrated to improve patient 

and user experience and outcomes.  

- LHCP are also focusing on improving communication across the borough on 

neighbourhood care networks and the benefits of aligning services in this way.  

 

(b) Strengthening the network of voluntary and community sector organisations: 

 

- To further strengthen networking across the neighbourhoods, the Stronger 

Communities Partnership Board has established four Neighbourhood Community 

Development Partnerships. These neighbourhood partnerships, delivered by 

Community Connections, bring together voluntary and community sector 

organisations and groups in that area to support community development. 

- Although these partnerships vary from neighbourhood to neighbourhood, building 

on existing forums and infrastructure, they will adhere to the following overall 

principles for community development in Lewisham:  

 Maximise effectiveness by optimising and aligning the use of community 

development resources and workforce across the borough 

 Build on what works with a strong evidence base  

 Build on current assets and networks 

 Inform the neighbourhood development plans of the neighbourhood 

community development partnerships (see 6.1c below) 

 Build capacity by recruiting, supporting and training local volunteers 

- Community Connections workers are encouraging local community groups to 

engage with each partnership, organising the partnership meetings, and playing a 

key role in aligning the work programmes of the different community development 

workers in each neighbourhood to maximise the use of resources and avoid 

duplication. 

- The first meetings of the Neighbourhood Community Development Partnerships 

were well attended with a combined attendance of 117 people across the four 

meetings.  The key priorities that have been identified by the partnerships include 

sharing information, long term conditions, isolation and healthy eating/food poverty. 

 

Page 79



 

(c) Strengthening the relationships between the statutory and voluntary sectors: 

 

- The Neighbourhood Community Development Partnerships will play a key role in 

strengthening connections between voluntary and community sector organisations and 

statutory partners, including primary care, in the area to build stronger, healthier 

communities. The partnerships will engage with statutory agencies working in the area 

to share information, identify priorities and raise and resolve issues of community 

concern.   

- Each partnership will produce a neighbourhood community development plan, 

informed by Community Connections’ gaps analysis, identifying key priorities. This 

plan will inform the future work of the local partnership, including local health and care 

partners. There will also be a small grant fund of £25k per partnership to deliver local 

solutions to the local priorities identified.   

- As these priorities are identified and developed, links with the relevant statutory 

service(s) will be established to work with NCDPs and to support the development of  

local solutions.  

 

7. Communication and Engagement 

 

7.1 The Lewisham Health and Care Partners have recognised the need to improve 

communications, as also highlighted in the Healthier Communities Select Committee’s 

report on health and adult social care integration (March 2017).   

 

7.2 As part of the planned development of Lewisham’s neighbourhood care network, a more 

user friendly narrative on NCNs will be developed and case studies produced to 

communicate and demonstrate the positive impact that the NCNs are having on people’s 

health and wellbeing. 

 

8. Financial Implications  

 

8.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. Any proposed activity or 

commitments arising from activity to support the development of the local health and 

care network(s) or the neighbourhood community development partnerships will need 

to be agreed by the delivery organisations concerned and be subject to confirmation of 

resources.   

 

9. Legal implications  

 

9.1 Where there is a proposal to integrate services to support the delivery of the 

neighbourhood care networks, his is dealt with under an agreement under Section 75 

NHS Act 2006 which sets out the governance arrangements for the delivery of services, 

and where relevant any delegation of functions from one party to another and the 

respective budget contributions of the local authority and the CCG in relation to the 

services. 

 

 

 

10. Crime and Disorder Implications 

Page 80



 

 

10.1 There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 

 

11. Equalities Implications  

 

11.1 Although there are no specific equalities implications arising from this report, the 

development of local health and care networks and the work undertaken by the 

Neighbourhood Community Development Partnerships will continue to focus on 

improving health and care outcomes and reducing inequalities across the borough.  

 

12. Environmental Implications 

 

12.1 There are no specific environmental implications arising from this report.  

 

13. Conclusion 

 

13.1 Members are invited to note the contents of the report.    

If you have any queries about the content of this report please contact sarah.wainer@nhs.net 

(Phone: 020 3049 1880). 

 

Page 81

mailto:sarah.wainer@nhs.net


 

Page 82



 

Annex B - Lewisham neighbourhoods by GP and ward

 

 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



Healthier Communities Select Committee 

Title Select Committee work programme 

Contributor Scrutiny Manager Item 7 

Class Part 1 (open) 13 June 2017 

 
1. Purpose 
 

To advise Members of the proposed work programme for the municipal year 2017-
18, and to decide on the agenda items for the next meeting. 

 
2. Summary 
 
2.1 At the beginning of the municipal year, each select committee drew up a draft work 

programme for submission to the Business Panel for consideration. 
 
2.2 The Business Panel considered the proposed work programmes of each of the 

select committees on 22 May 2017 and agreed a co-ordinated overview and 
scrutiny work programme. However, the work programme can be reviewed at each 
Select Committee meeting so that Members are able to include urgent, high priority 
items and remove items that are no longer a priority. 

 
3. Recommendations 
 
3.1 The Committee is asked to: 
 

 note the work plan attached at Appendix B and discuss any issues arising from 
the programme;  

 specify the information and analysis required in the report for each item on the 
agenda for the next meeting, based on desired outcomes, so that officers are 
clear about what they need to provide; 

 review all forthcoming key decisions, attached at Appendix C, and consider any 
items for further scrutiny; 

 
4. The work programme 
 
4.1 The work programme for 2017/18 was agreed at the Committee’s meeting on 25 

April 2017. 
 
4.2 The Committee is asked to consider if any urgent issues have arisen that require 

scrutiny and if any existing items are no longer a priority and can be removed from 
the work programme. Before adding additional items, each item should be 
considered against agreed criteria. The flow chart attached at Appendix A may 
help Members decide if proposed additional items should be added to the work 
programme. The Committee’s work programme needs to be achievable in terms of 
the amount of meeting time available. If the Committee agrees to add additional 
item(s) because they are urgent and high priority, Members will need to consider 

Page 85

Agenda Item 7



which medium/low priority item(s) should be removed in order to create sufficient 
capacity for the new item(s). 

 
5. The next meeting 
 
5.1 The following reports are scheduled for the meeting on 20 July 2017: 
 

Agenda item Review type Link to Corporate Priority Priority 
 

Adult Safeguarding Board 
– introduction from new 
Chair  

In-depth review Active, healthy citizens Medium 

CQC inspection of 
Lewisham and Greenwich 
NHS Trust 

Standard item Active, healthy citizens High 

Lewisham and Greenwich 
NHS Trust Quality 
Account 

Standard item Active, healthy citizens High 

Leisure centre contract Performance 
monitoring 

Active, healthy citizens Medium 

Social prescribing in-
depth review evidence 
session 

In-depth review Active, healthy citizens High 

 
5.2 The Committee is asked to specify the information and analysis it would like to see 

in the reports for these items, based on the outcomes the Committee would like to 
achieve, so that officers are clear about what they need to provide for the next 
meeting. 

 
6. Financial Implications 
 

There are no financial implications arising from this report.  
 

7. Legal Implications 
 

In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, all scrutiny select committees must 
devise and submit a work programme to the Business Panel at the start of each 
municipal year. 

 
8. Equalities Implications 
 
8.1 The Equality Act 2010 brought together all previous equality legislation in England, 

Scotland and Wales. The Act included a new public sector equality duty, replacing 
the separate duties relating to race, disability and gender equality. The duty came 
into force on 6 April 2011. It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, 
disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

8.2 The Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to: 
 

Page 86



 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act 

 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. 

 
8.3 There may be equalities implications arising from items on the work programme and 

all activities undertaken by the Select Committee will need to give due consideration 
to this. 
 

9. Date of next meeting 
 
The date of the next meeting is Wednesday 20 July 2017. 
 
Background Documents 

 
Lewisham Council’s Constitution 

 
Centre for Public Scrutiny: the Good Scrutiny Guide 

 

Page 87



Appendix A 
 

 

 

Page 88



Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

  
 

 

 
 

F
O

R
W

A
R

D
 P

L
A

N
 O

F
 K

E
Y

 D
E

C
IS

IO
N

S
 

 

 
 

  
F

o
rw

a
rd

 P
la

n
 J

u
n

e
 2

0
1
7
 -

 S
e
p

te
m

b
e
r 

2
0
1
7
 

  T
h
is

 F
o
rw

a
rd

 P
la

n
 s

e
ts

 o
u
t 

th
e
 k

e
y
 d

e
c
is

io
n
s
 t

h
e
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

e
x
p

e
c
ts

 t
o
 t

a
k
e
 d

u
ri

n
g
 t

h
e
 n

e
x
t 

fo
u
r 

m
o
n
th

s
. 

 
 A

n
y
o
n

e
 w

is
h
in

g
 t
o

 m
a
k
e
 r

e
p
re

s
e
n
ta

ti
o

n
s
 o

n
 a

 d
e
c
is

io
n

 s
h
o
u
ld

 s
u
b
m

it
 t

h
e
m

 i
n
 w

ri
ti
n
g
 a

s
 s

o
o

n
 a

s
 p

o
s
s
ib

le
 t

o
 t

h
e
 r

e
le

v
a
n
t 

c
o
n
ta

c
t 

o
ff

ic
e
r 

(s
h
o

w
n
 a

s
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

(7
) 

in
 

th
e
 k

e
y
 o

v
e
rl

e
a
f)

. 
A

n
y
 r

e
p
re

s
e
n
ta

ti
o

n
s
 m

a
d
e
 l
e
s
s
 t

h
a

n
 3

 d
a

y
s
 b

e
fo

re
 t

h
e
 m

e
e
ti
n

g
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e

 s
e
n
t 

to
 K

e
v
in

 F
la

h
e
rt

y
, 

th
e

 L
o
c
a

l 
D

e
m

o
c
ra

c
y
 O

ff
ic

e
r,

 a
t 

th
e

 C
o
u

n
c
il 

O
ff

ic
e
s
 o

r 
k
e
v
in

.f
la

h
e
rt

y
@

le
w

is
h
a
m

.g
o
v
.u

k
. 

H
o
w

e
v
e
r 

th
e
 d

e
a
d
lin

e
 w

ill
 b

e
 4

p
m

 o
n
 t

h
e
 w

o
rk

in
g
 d

a
y
 p

ri
o
r 

to
 t

h
e
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
. 

        M
a
rc

h
 2

0
1
7

 
 

P
re

li
m

in
a

ry
 F

lo
o

d
 R

is
k
 

A
s

s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t 
U

p
d

a
te

 
 

0
7
/0

6
/1

7
 

M
a

y
o

r 
a
n

d
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

 

J
a
n
e
t 

S
e
n

io
r,

 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 &

 
R

e
g
e

n
e
ra

ti
o
n

 a
n

d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

A
la

n
 S

m
it
h
, 

D
e
p
u
ty

 M
a

y
o
r 

 

   
 

M
a

y
 2

0
1
7

 
 

F
in

a
n

c
ia

l 
R

e
s
u

lt
s

 2
0

1
6
/1

7
 

 
0
7
/0

6
/1

7
 

M
a

y
o

r 
a
n

d
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

 

J
a
n
e
t 

S
e
n

io
r,

 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 &

 
R

e
g
e

n
e
ra

ti
o
n

 a
n

d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

K
e
v
in

 B
o

n
a

v
ia

, 
C

a
b
in

e
t 

M
e
m

b
e
r 

   
 

A
 “

k
e
y
 d

e
c
is

io
n
”*

 m
e
a
n
s
 a

n
 e

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 d

e
c
is

io
n
 w

h
ic

h
 i
s
 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o
: 

 (a
)  

re
s
u
lt
 i
n
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

in
c
u
rr

in
g
 e

x
p
e

n
d
it
u
re

 w
h
ic

h
 i
s
, 

o
r 

th
e
 m

a
k
in

g
 o

f 
s
a
v
in

g
s
 w

h
ic

h
 a

re
, 
s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
t 

h
a
v
in

g
 r

e
g
a
rd

 t
o
 t

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il’

s
 b

u
d
g
e
t 
fo

r 
th

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 o

r 
fu

n
c
ti
o
n
 t
o
 w

h
ic

h
 t
h
e
 

d
e
c
is

io
n
 r

e
la

te
s
; 

 (b
) 

b
e
 s

ig
n
if
ic

a
n
t 
in

 t
e
rm

s
 o

f 
it
s
 e

ff
e
c
ts

 o
n
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 l
iv

in
g
 o

r 
w

o
rk

in
g
 i
n
 a

n
 a

re
a
 c

o
m

p
ri
s
in

g
 t

w
o
 o

r 
m

o
re

 w
a
rd

s
. 

  

Page 91



F
O

R
W

A
R

D
 P

L
A

N
 –

 K
E

Y
 D

E
C

IS
IO

N
S

 

D
a
te

 i
n

c
lu

d
e
d

 i
n

 
fo

rw
a
rd

 p
la

n
 

D
e
s
c

ri
p

ti
o

n
 o

f 
m

a
tt

e
r 

u
n

d
e
r 

c
o

n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o

n
 

D
a
te

 o
f 

D
e
c

is
io

n
 

D
e
c
is

io
n

 m
a
k

e
r 

 

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

le
 O

ff
ic

e
rs

 /
 

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

s
 

C
o

n
s
u

lt
a
ti

o
n

 D
e
ta

il
s

 
B

a
c
k
g

ro
u

n
d

 p
a
p

e
rs

 /
 

m
a
te

ri
a

ls
 

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 

 

F
e
b
ru

a
ry

 2
0

1
7

 
 

P
ro

v
is

io
n

 o
f 

T
e
x
ti

le
 C

o
ll

e
c
ti

o
n

 
B

ri
n

g
 B

a
c
k
 S

e
rv

ic
e

 -
 

A
p

p
o

in
tm

e
n

t 
to

 F
ra

m
e
w

o
rk

 
 

0
7
/0

6
/1

7
 

M
a

y
o

r 
a
n

d
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

(C
o
n
tr

a
c
ts

) 
 

K
e

v
in

 S
h
e
e

h
a
n
, 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 D
ir
e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
C

u
s
to

m
e
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

R
a
c
h

e
l 

O
n
ik

o
s
i,
 C

a
b

in
e
t 

M
e
m

b
e
r 

P
u
b

lic
 R

e
a

lm
 

 

   
 

F
e
b
ru

a
ry

 2
0

1
7

 
 

R
e
p

la
c

e
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
F

le
e
t 

V
e
h

ic
le

s
 

 
0
7
/0

6
/1

7
 

M
a

y
o

r 
a
n

d
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

(C
o
n
tr

a
c
ts

) 
 

J
a
n
e
t 

S
e
n

io
r,

 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 &

 
R

e
g
e

n
e
ra

ti
o
n

 a
n

d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

A
la

n
 S

m
it
h
, 

D
e
p
u
ty

 M
a

y
o
r 

 

   
 

J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0

1
7

 
 

A
w

a
rd

 o
f 

c
o

n
tr

a
c
t 

fo
r 

S
e
x

u
a
l 

H
e
a
lt

h
 e

-s
e
rv

ic
e

 
 

1
2
/0

6
/1

7
 

O
v
e
rv

ie
w

 a
n

d
 

S
c
ru

ti
n

y
 B

u
s
in

e
s
s
 

P
a
n

e
l 

 

A
ile

e
n

 B
u
c
k
to

n
, 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 D
ir
e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

C
h
ri

s
 B

e
s
t,
 

C
a
b
in

e
t 

M
e
m

b
e
r 

fo
r 

H
e
a
lt
h
, 
W

e
llb

e
in

g
 a

n
d

 
O

ld
e
r 

P
e
o

p
le

 
 

   
 

M
a

y
 2

0
1
7

 
 

S
y
d

e
n

h
a
m

 P
a
rk

 F
o

o
tb

ri
d

g
e

 
A

p
p

ro
v

a
l 

o
f 

A
g

re
e
m

e
n

t 
w

it
h

 
N

e
tw

o
rk

 R
a
il

 
 

1
2
/0

6
/1

7
 

O
v
e
rv

ie
w

 a
n

d
 

S
c
ru

ti
n

y
 B

u
s
in

e
s
s
 

P
a
n

e
l 

 

J
a
n
e
t 

S
e
n

io
r,

 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 &

 
R

e
g
e

n
e
ra

ti
o
n

 a
n

d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

A
la

n
 S

m
it
h
, 

D
e
p
u
ty

 M
a

y
o
r 

 

   
 

F
e
b
ru

a
ry

 2
0

1
7

 
 

C
o

n
tr

a
c
t 

a
w

a
rd

 r
e
p

o
rt

 f
o

r 
b

u
lg

e
 

c
la

s
s
 s

c
h

e
m

e
 

 

1
2
/0

6
/1

7
 

O
v
e
rv

ie
w

 a
n

d
 

S
c
ru

ti
n

y
 E

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 

B
u
s
in

e
s
s
 P

a
n
e
l 

 

S
a
ra

 W
ill

ia
m

s
, 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 
D

ir
e
c
to

r,
 C

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 

Y
o
u

n
g
 P

e
o

p
le

 a
n

d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

P
a
u

l 
M

a
s
lin

, 
C

a
b
in

e
t 

M
e
m

b
e
r 

fo
r 

C
h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 Y

o
u
n

g
 

P
e
o

p
le

 

   
 

Page 92



F
O

R
W

A
R

D
 P

L
A

N
 –

 K
E

Y
 D

E
C

IS
IO

N
S

 

D
a
te

 i
n

c
lu

d
e
d

 i
n

 
fo

rw
a
rd

 p
la

n
 

D
e
s
c

ri
p

ti
o

n
 o

f 
m

a
tt

e
r 

u
n

d
e
r 

c
o

n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o

n
 

D
a
te

 o
f 

D
e
c

is
io

n
 

D
e
c
is

io
n

 m
a
k

e
r 

 

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

le
 O

ff
ic

e
rs

 /
 

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

s
 

C
o

n
s
u

lt
a
ti

o
n

 D
e
ta

il
s

 
B

a
c
k
g

ro
u

n
d

 p
a
p

e
rs

 /
 

m
a
te

ri
a

ls
 

 

A
u
g

u
s
t 

2
0

1
6

 
 

T
h

e
 W

h
a
rv

e
s
 D

e
p

tf
o

rd
 -

 
C

o
m

p
u

ls
o

ry
 P

u
rc

h
a
s

e
 O

rd
e
r 

R
e
s
o

lu
ti

o
n

 
 

2
1
/0

6
/1

7
 

M
a

y
o

r  
a
n

d
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

 

J
a
n
e
t 

S
e
n

io
r,

 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 
D

ir
e
c
to

r  
fo

r 
R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 &

 
R

e
g
e

n
e
ra

ti
o
n

 a
n

d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

A
la

n
 S

m
it
h
, 

D
e
p
u
ty

 M
a

y
o
r 

 

   
 

M
a

y
 2

0
1
7

 
 

E
v

a
lu

a
ti

o
n

 o
f 

th
e

 S
u

s
ta

in
a
b

le
 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

 S
tr

a
te

g
y

 
 

2
1
/0

6
/1

7
 

M
a

y
o

r 
a
n

d
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

 

J
a
n
e
t 

S
e
n

io
r,

 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 
D

ir
e
c
to

r  
fo

r 
R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 &

 
R

e
g
e

n
e
ra

ti
o
n

 a
n

d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

J
o
e
 D

ro
m

e
y
, 

C
a
b
in

e
t 

M
e
m

b
e
r 

P
o

lic
y
 &

 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

 
 

   
 

M
a

y
 2

0
1
7

 
 

M
e
m

o
ra

n
d

u
m

 o
f 

U
n

d
e
rs

ta
n

d
in

g
 o

n
 P

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti

o
n

 
o

f 
C

e
n

tr
a
l 
L

o
n

d
o

n
 F

o
rw

a
rd

 f
o

r 
P

u
rp

o
s
e

s
 o

f 
E

m
p

lo
y
m

e
n

t 
a
n

d
 

S
k
il
ls

 D
e
v

o
lu

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 j
o

in
t 

w
o

rk
in

g
 p

ro
c
u

re
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
W

o
rk

 
a
n

d
 H

e
a
lt

h
 P

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

 
 

2
1
/0

6
/1

7
 

M
a

y
o

r 
a
n

d
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

 

J
a
n
e
t 

S
e
n

io
r,

 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 &

 
R

e
g
e

n
e
ra

ti
o
n

 a
n

d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

A
la

n
 S

m
it
h
, 

D
e
p
u
ty

 M
a

y
o
r 

 

   
 

M
a

y
 2

0
1
7

 
 

A
u

d
it

e
d

 A
c

c
o

u
n

ts
 a

n
d

 P
e

n
s
io

n
 

F
u

n
d

 A
c

c
o

u
n

ts
 2

0
1
6
/1

7
 

 

2
1
/0

6
/1

7
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

 

J
a
n
e
t 

S
e
n

io
r,

 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 &

 
R

e
g
e

n
e
ra

ti
o
n

 a
n

d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

K
e
v
in

 B
o

n
a

v
ia

, 
C

a
b
in

e
t 

M
e
m

b
e
r 

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 

 

   
 

M
a
rc

h
 2

0
1
7

 
 

C
R

P
L

 B
u

s
in

e
s

s
 P

la
n

 2
0
1

7
-1

8
 

 
2
1
/0

6
/1

7
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

 

J
a
n
e
t 

S
e
n

io
r,

 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 &

 
R

e
g
e

n
e
ra

ti
o
n

 a
n

d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

A
la

n
 S

m
it
h
, 

D
e
p
u
ty

 M
a

y
o
r 

 

   
 

F
e
b
ru

a
ry

 2
0

1
7

 
N

e
w

 H
o

m
e
s

 P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 

2
8
/0

6
/1

7
 

K
e

v
in

 S
h
e
e

h
a
n
, 

 
 

Page 93



F
O

R
W

A
R

D
 P

L
A

N
 –

 K
E

Y
 D

E
C

IS
IO

N
S

 

D
a
te

 i
n

c
lu

d
e
d

 i
n

 
fo

rw
a
rd

 p
la

n
 

D
e
s
c

ri
p

ti
o

n
 o

f 
m

a
tt

e
r 

u
n

d
e
r 

c
o

n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o

n
 

D
a
te

 o
f 

D
e
c

is
io

n
 

D
e
c
is

io
n

 m
a
k

e
r 

 

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

le
 O

ff
ic

e
rs

 /
 

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

s
 

C
o

n
s
u

lt
a
ti

o
n

 D
e
ta

il
s

 
B

a
c
k
g

ro
u

n
d

 p
a
p

e
rs

 /
 

m
a
te

ri
a

ls
 

 
 

M
a

y
o

r 
a
n

d
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

 
E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 D
ir
e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
C

u
s
to

m
e
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r  

D
a
m

ie
n
 E

g
a

n
, 

C
a
b
in

e
t 

M
e
m

b
e
r 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

 

  

F
e
b
ru

a
ry

 2
0

1
7

 
 

B
e
c
k

e
n

h
a
m

 P
la

c
e

 P
a
rk

 
P

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

 U
p

d
a
te

 
 

2
8
/0

6
/1

7
 

M
a

y
o

r 
a
n

d
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

 

K
e

v
in

 S
h
e
e

h
a
n
, 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 D
ir
e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
C

u
s
to

m
e
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

R
a
c
h

e
l 

O
n
ik

o
s
i,
 C

a
b

in
e
t 

M
e
m

b
e
r 

P
u
b

lic
 R

e
a

lm
 

 

   
 

F
e
b
ru

a
ry

 2
0

1
7

 
 

D
e
p

tf
o

rd
 S

o
u

th
e
rn

 H
o

u
s
in

g
 

S
it

e
s
 -

 P
a

rt
 1

 &
 P

a
rt

 2
 

 

2
8
/0

6
/1

7
 

M
a

y
o

r 
a
n

d
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

 

K
e

v
in

 S
h
e
e

h
a
n
, 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 D
ir
e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
C

u
s
to

m
e
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

D
a
m

ie
n
 E

g
a

n
, 

C
a
b
in

e
t 

M
e
m

b
e
r 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

 

   
 

M
a
rc

h
 2

0
1
7

 
 

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
 t

o
 C

o
n

s
u

lt
a
ti

o
n

 o
n

 
P

o
li

c
y

 f
o

r 
S

u
p

p
o

rt
e
d

 T
ra

v
e
l 

Y
o

u
n

g
 P

e
o

p
le

 A
tt

e
n

d
in

g
 

C
o

ll
e
g

e
 a

n
d

 A
d

u
lt

s
 E

li
g

ib
le

 f
o

r 
A

d
u

lt
 S

o
c
ia

l 
C

a
re

 
 

2
8
/0

6
/1

7
 

M
a

y
o

r 
a
n

d
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

 

A
ile

e
n

 B
u
c
k
to

n
, 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 D
ir
e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

C
h
ri

s
 B

e
s
t,
 

C
a
b
in

e
t 

M
e
m

b
e
r 

fo
r 

H
e
a
lt
h
, 
W

e
llb

e
in

g
 a

n
d

 
O

ld
e
r 

P
e
o

p
le

 
 

   
 

M
a

y
 2

0
1
7

 
 

L
e
w

is
h

a
m

 H
o

m
e
s

 A
rt

ic
le

s
 o

f 
A

s
s
o

c
ia

ti
o

n
 

 

2
8
/0

6
/1

7
 

M
a

y
o

r 
a
n

d
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

 

K
e

v
in

 S
h
e
e

h
a
n
, 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 D
ir
e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
C

u
s
to

m
e
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

D
a
m

ie
n
 E

g
a

n
, 

C
a
b
in

e
t 

M
e
m

b
e
r 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

 

   
 

M
a

y
 2

0
1
7

 
 

H
o

u
s
in

g
 A

c
q

u
is

it
io

n
s

 P
a
rt

 2
 

 
2
8
/0

6
/1

7
 

M
a

y
o

r 
a
n

d
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

 

K
e

v
in

 S
h
e
e

h
a
n
, 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 D
ir
e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
C

u
s
to

m
e
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

D
a
m

ie
n
 E

g
a

n
, 

   
 

Page 94



F
O

R
W

A
R

D
 P

L
A

N
 –

 K
E

Y
 D

E
C

IS
IO

N
S

 

D
a
te

 i
n

c
lu

d
e
d

 i
n

 
fo

rw
a
rd

 p
la

n
 

D
e
s
c

ri
p

ti
o

n
 o

f 
m

a
tt

e
r 

u
n

d
e
r 

c
o

n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o

n
 

D
a
te

 o
f 

D
e
c

is
io

n
 

D
e
c
is

io
n

 m
a
k

e
r 

 

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

le
 O

ff
ic

e
rs

 /
 

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

s
 

C
o

n
s
u

lt
a
ti

o
n

 D
e
ta

il
s

 
B

a
c
k
g

ro
u

n
d

 p
a
p

e
rs

 /
 

m
a
te

ri
a

ls
 

C
a
b
in

e
t 

M
e
m

b
e
r 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

 

M
a

y
 2

0
1
7

 
 

M
e
d

iu
m

 T
e
rm

 F
in

a
n

c
ia

l 
S

tr
a
te

g
y

 
 

2
8
/0

6
/1

7
 

M
a

y
o

r 
a
n

d
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

 

J
a
n
e
t 

S
e
n

io
r,

 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 &

 
R

e
g
e

n
e
ra

ti
o
n

 a
n

d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

K
e
v
in

 B
o

n
a

v
ia

, 
C

a
b
in

e
t 

M
e
m

b
e
r 

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 

 

   
 

F
e
b
ru

a
ry

 2
0

1
7

 
 

E
x
te

n
d

in
g

 t
h

e
 s

h
a
re

d
 I
T

 
s
e
rv

ic
e
 t

o
 S

o
u

th
w

a
rk

 
 

2
8
/0

6
/1

7
 

M
a

y
o

r 
a
n

d
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

 

K
e

v
in

 S
h
e
e

h
a
n
, 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 D
ir
e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
C

u
s
to

m
e
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

K
e
v
in

 B
o

n
a

v
ia

, 
C

a
b
in

e
t 

M
e
m

b
e
r 

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 

 

   
 

F
e
b
ru

a
ry

 2
0

1
7

 
 

IT
 N

e
tw

o
rk

 r
e
-p

ro
c
u

re
m

e
n

t 
B

re
n

t 
a
n

d
 L

e
w

is
h

a
m

 s
h

a
re

d
 

s
e
rv

ic
e

 
 

2
8
/0

6
/1

7
 

M
a

y
o

r 
a
n

d
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

(C
o
n
tr

a
c
ts

) 
 

J
a
n
e
t 

S
e
n

io
r,

 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 &

 
R

e
g
e

n
e
ra

ti
o
n

 a
n

d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

K
e
v
in

 B
o

n
a

v
ia

, 
C

a
b
in

e
t 

M
e
m

b
e
r 

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 

 

   
 

A
p
ri

l 
2

0
1
7

 
 

P
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 r
e
v

is
io

n
 t

o
 t

h
e
 

c
o

n
tr

a
c
t 

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 o

f 
th

e
 

D
o

w
n

h
a
m

 H
e
a
lt

h
 &

 L
e
is

u
re

 
C

e
n

tr
e
 P

F
I 

 

2
8
/0

6
/1

7
 

M
a

y
o

r 
a
n

d
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

(C
o
n
tr

a
c
ts

) 
 

A
ile

e
n

 B
u
c
k
to

n
, 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 D
ir
e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

J
o
a
n

 M
ill

b
a

n
k
, 

C
a
b
in

e
t 

M
e
m

b
e
r 

T
h
ir
d

 
S

e
c
to

r 
&

 C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

 

   
 

M
a

y
 2

0
1
7

 
 

C
o

n
tr

a
c
t 

A
w

a
rd

 B
u

lg
e

 C
la

s
s

 
S

a
n

d
h

u
rs

t 
s
c
h

o
o

l 
 

1
1
/0

7
/1

7
 

O
v
e
rv

ie
w

 a
n

d
 

S
c
ru

ti
n

y
 E

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 

B
u
s
in

e
s
s
 P

a
n
e
l 

 

S
a
ra

 W
ill

ia
m

s
, 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 
D

ir
e
c
to

r,
 C

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 

Y
o
u

n
g
 P

e
o

p
le

 a
n

d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

P
a
u

l 
M

a
s
lin

, 
C

a
b
in

e
t 

M
e
m

b
e
r 

fo
r 

C
h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 Y

o
u
n

g
 

   
 

Page 95



F
O

R
W

A
R

D
 P

L
A

N
 –

 K
E

Y
 D

E
C

IS
IO

N
S

 

D
a
te

 i
n

c
lu

d
e
d

 i
n

 
fo

rw
a
rd

 p
la

n
 

D
e
s
c

ri
p

ti
o

n
 o

f 
m

a
tt

e
r 

u
n

d
e
r 

c
o

n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o

n
 

D
a
te

 o
f 

D
e
c

is
io

n
 

D
e
c
is

io
n

 m
a
k

e
r 

 

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

le
 O

ff
ic

e
rs

 /
 

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

s
 

C
o

n
s
u

lt
a
ti

o
n

 D
e
ta

il
s

 
B

a
c
k
g

ro
u

n
d

 p
a
p

e
rs

 /
 

m
a
te

ri
a

ls
 

P
e
o

p
le

 
 

M
a
rc

h
 2

0
1
7

 
 

A
c
h

il
le

s
 S

tr
e
e
t 

R
e
g

e
n

e
ra

ti
o

n
 

P
ro

p
o

s
a

ls
 

 

1
9
/0

7
/1

7
 

M
a

y
o

r 
a
n

d
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

 

K
e

v
in

 S
h
e
e

h
a
n
, 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 D
ir
e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
C

u
s
to

m
e
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

D
a
m

ie
n
 E

g
a

n
, 

C
a
b
in

e
t 

M
e
m

b
e
r 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

 

   
 

J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0

1
7

 
 

C
a
tf

o
rd

 R
e
g

e
n

e
ra

ti
o

n
 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 P

a
rt

s
 1

 a
n

d
 2

 
 

1
9
/0

7
/1

7
 

M
a

y
o

r 
a
n

d
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

 

J
a
n
e
t 

S
e
n

io
r,

 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 &

 
R

e
g
e

n
e
ra

ti
o
n

 a
n

d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

A
la

n
 S

m
it
h
, 

D
e
p
u
ty

 M
a

y
o
r 

 

   
 

M
a

y
 2

0
1
7

 
 

F
in

a
n

c
ia

l 
M

o
n

it
o

ri
n

g
 2

0
1
7

/1
8

 
 

1
9
/0

7
/1

7
 

M
a

y
o

r 
a
n

d
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

 

J
a
n
e
t 

S
e
n

io
r,

 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 &

 
R

e
g
e

n
e
ra

ti
o
n

 a
n

d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

K
e
v
in

 B
o

n
a

v
ia

, 
C

a
b
in

e
t 

M
e
m

b
e
r 

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 

 

   
 

M
a

y
 2

0
1
7

 
 

L
e
w

is
h

a
m

 F
u

tu
re

 P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 

2
0
1
8

/1
9
 R

e
v

e
n

u
e

 B
u

d
g

e
t 

S
a
v

in
g

s
 

 

1
9
/0

7
/1

7
 

M
a

y
o

r 
a
n

d
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

 

J
a
n
e
t 

S
e
n

io
r,

 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 &

 
R

e
g
e

n
e
ra

ti
o
n

 a
n

d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

K
e
v
in

 B
o

n
a

v
ia

, 
C

a
b
in

e
t 

M
e
m

b
e
r 

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 

 

   
 

M
a

y
 2

0
1
7

 
 

L
e
w

is
h

a
m

 A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 

S
ta

te
m

e
n

t  
o

f 
P

u
rp

o
s
e

 a
n

d
 

C
h

il
d

re
n

's
 G

u
id

e
s

 
 

1
9
/0

7
/1

7
 

M
a

y
o

r 
a
n

d
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

 

S
a
ra

 W
ill

ia
m

s
, 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 
D

ir
e
c
to

r,
 C

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 

Y
o
u

n
g
 P

e
o

p
le

 a
n

d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

P
a
u

l 
M

a
s
lin

, 
C

a
b
in

e
t 

M
e
m

b
e
r 

fo
r 

C
h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 Y

o
u
n

g
 

P
e
o

p
le

 
 

   
 

Page 96



F
O

R
W

A
R

D
 P

L
A

N
 –

 K
E

Y
 D

E
C

IS
IO

N
S

 

D
a
te

 i
n

c
lu

d
e
d

 i
n

 
fo

rw
a
rd

 p
la

n
 

D
e
s
c

ri
p

ti
o

n
 o

f 
m

a
tt

e
r 

u
n

d
e
r 

c
o

n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o

n
 

D
a
te

 o
f 

D
e
c

is
io

n
 

D
e
c
is

io
n

 m
a
k

e
r 

 

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

le
 O

ff
ic

e
rs

 /
 

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

s
 

C
o

n
s
u

lt
a
ti

o
n

 D
e
ta

il
s

 
B

a
c
k
g

ro
u

n
d

 p
a
p

e
rs

 /
 

m
a
te

ri
a

ls
 

M
a

y
 2

0
1
7

 
 

L
e
w

is
h

a
m

 F
o

s
te

ri
n

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 

S
ta

te
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
P

u
rp

o
s
e

 a
n

d
 

C
h

il
d

re
n

's
 G

u
id

e
s

 
 

1
9
/0

7
/1

7
 

M
a

y
o

r 
a
n

d
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

 

S
a
ra

 W
ill

ia
m

s
, 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 
D

ir
e
c
to

r,
 C

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 

Y
o
u

n
g
 P

e
o

p
le

 a
n

d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

P
a
u

l 
M

a
s
lin

, 
C

a
b
in

e
t 

M
e
m

b
e
r 

fo
r 

C
h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 Y

o
u
n

g
 

P
e
o

p
le

 
 

   
 

M
a

y
 2

0
1
7

 
 

T
ra

n
s
fe

r 
o

f 
th

e
 A

p
p

li
c

a
ti

o
n

s
 

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 F
u

n
c
ti

o
n

 t
o

 t
h

e
 L

B
 

B
re

n
t 

S
h

a
re

d
 S

e
rv

ic
e

 
 

1
9
/0

7
/1

7
 

M
a

y
o

r  
a
n

d
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

 

J
a
n
e
t 

S
e
n

io
r,

 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 
D

ir
e
c
to

r  
fo

r 
R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 &

 
R

e
g
e

n
e
ra

ti
o
n

 a
n

d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

K
e
v
in

 B
o

n
a

v
ia

, 
C

a
b
in

e
t 

M
e
m

b
e
r 

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 

 

   
 

M
a

y
 2

0
1
7

 
 

S
y
d

e
n

h
a
m

 P
a
rk

 F
o

o
tb

ri
d

g
e

 
C

o
n

tr
a
c
t 

A
w

a
rd

 
 

1
9
/0

7
/1

7
 

M
a

y
o

r 
a
n

d
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

(C
o
n
tr

a
c
ts

) 
 

J
a
n
e
t 

S
e
n

io
r,

 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 &

 
R

e
g
e

n
e
ra

ti
o
n

 a
n

d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

A
la

n
 S

m
it
h
, 

D
e
p
u
ty

 M
a

y
o
r 

 

   
 

F
e
b
ru

a
ry

 2
0

1
7

 
 

T
e
le

p
h

o
n

y
 r

e
-p

ro
c
u

re
m

e
n

t 
 

1
9
/0

7
/1

7
 

M
a

y
o

r 
a
n

d
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

(C
o
n
tr

a
c
ts

) 
 

K
e

v
in

 S
h
e
e

h
a
n
, 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 D
ir
e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
C

u
s
to

m
e
r 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

K
e
v
in

 B
o

n
a

v
ia

, 
C

a
b
in

e
t 

M
e
m

b
e
r 

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 

 

   
 

M
a

y
 2

0
1
7

 
 

S
a
n

g
le

y
 a

n
d

 S
a
n

d
h

u
rs

t 
R

o
a
d

 
H

ig
h

w
a
y
 I
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n

t 
S

c
h

e
m

e
 

C
o

n
tr

a
c
t 

A
w

a
rd

 
 

1
9
/0

7
/1

7
 

M
a

y
o

r 
a
n

d
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

(C
o
n
tr

a
c
ts

) 
 

J
a
n
e
t 

S
e
n

io
r,

 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 &

 
R

e
g
e

n
e
ra

ti
o
n

 a
n

d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

A
la

n
 S

m
it
h
, 

D
e
p
u
ty

 M
a

y
o
r 

 

   
 

M
a

y
 2

0
1
7

 
 

F
in

a
n

c
ia

l 
R

e
g

u
la

ti
o

n
s

 a
n

d
 

D
ir

e
c
to

ra
te

 S
c
h

e
m

e
s
 o

f 
2
0
/0

9
/1

7
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

J
a
n
e
t 

S
e
n

io
r,

 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 &

 
   

 

Page 97



F
O

R
W

A
R

D
 P

L
A

N
 –

 K
E

Y
 D

E
C

IS
IO

N
S

 

D
a
te

 i
n

c
lu

d
e
d

 i
n

 
fo

rw
a
rd

 p
la

n
 

D
e
s
c

ri
p

ti
o

n
 o

f 
m

a
tt

e
r 

u
n

d
e
r 

c
o

n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o

n
 

D
a
te

 o
f 

D
e
c

is
io

n
 

D
e
c
is

io
n

 m
a
k

e
r 

 

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

le
 O

ff
ic

e
rs

 /
 

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

s
 

C
o

n
s
u

lt
a
ti

o
n

 D
e
ta

il
s

 
B

a
c
k
g

ro
u

n
d

 p
a
p

e
rs

 /
 

m
a
te

ri
a

ls
 

D
e
le

g
a
ti

o
n

 
 

 
R

e
g
e

n
e
ra

ti
o
n

 a
n

d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

K
e
v
in

 B
o

n
a

v
ia

, 
C

a
b
in

e
t  

M
e
m

b
e
r 

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 

 

M
a

y
 2

0
1
7

 
 

R
e
p

o
rt

 o
f 

th
e
 B

a
rr

ie
rs

 t
o

 
P

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti

o
n

 W
o

rk
in

g
 P

a
rt

y
 

 

2
0
/0

9
/1

7
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

 

J
a
n
e
t 

S
e
n

io
r,

 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 

D
ir
e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 &

 
R

e
g
e

n
e
ra

ti
o
n

 a
n

d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

S
u

z
a
n
n

a
h
 

C
la

rk
e
, 
C

h
a

ir
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 

C
o
m

m
it
te

e
 C

 
 

   
 

M
a

y
 2

0
1
7

 
 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

 S
e

rv
ic

e
s

 Y
o

u
th

 
R

e
v

ie
w

 
 

0
4
/1

0
/1

7
 

M
a

y
o

r 
a
n

d
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

(C
o
n
tr

a
c
ts

) 
 

A
ile

e
n

 B
u
c
k
to

n
, 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

 D
ir
e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
r 

J
o
a
n

 M
ill

b
a

n
k
, 

C
a
b
in

e
t 

M
e
m

b
e
r 

T
h
ir
d

 
S

e
c
to

r 
&

 C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

 

   
 

Page 98



F
O

R
W

A
R

D
 P

L
A

N
 –

 K
E

Y
 D

E
C

IS
IO

N
S

 

D
a
te

 i
n

c
lu

d
e
d

 i
n

 
fo

rw
a
rd

 p
la

n
 

D
e
s
c

ri
p

ti
o

n
 o

f 
m

a
tt

e
r 

u
n

d
e
r 

c
o

n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o

n
 

D
a
te

 o
f 

D
e
c

is
io

n
 

D
e
c
is

io
n

 m
a
k

e
r 

 

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

le
 O

ff
ic

e
rs

 /
 

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

s
 

C
o

n
s
u

lt
a
ti

o
n

 D
e
ta

il
s

 
B

a
c
k
g

ro
u

n
d

 p
a
p

e
rs

 /
 

m
a
te

ri
a

ls
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 25 April 2017
	2 Declarations of interest
	3 Responses from Mayor and Cabinet
	03 HWB response to HCSC referral from 12 Jan 2017 (i)
	03 HWB response to HCSC referral from 12 Jan 2017 (ii)

	4 SLaM quality account
	04 SLaM Quality Account 2016-17 - 130617

	5 Neighbourhood care networks update
	7 Select Committee work programme
	07 Appendix B - Select committee work programme 2017-18
	07 Key Decision Plan-130617


